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The Cuban Missile Crisis

When Intelligence Made a Difference

Introduction

“... the Cuban Missile Crisis was really an intelligence crisis.

The threat appeared only through intelligence sources. Only
those sources confirmed that the threat had gone away.” While Helms
identified the two key questions that have come to define the Cuban
Missile Crisis, the intelligence challenge presented by the Soviets’ bold
venture in Cuba was about much more than just discovering nuclear
missiles and confirming they left. While nuclear missiles presented an
existential threat to the U.S., there were other dimensions of the overall
threat that the Kennedy administration needed to understand as it sought
a resolution to the crisis that would avert all-out war with the Soviets.

F ormer Director of Central Intelligence Richard Helms once said

This is the story of what American intelligence knew, when it
knew it, and how it knew what the Soviets were doing in Cuba prior
to and during the crisis—and what we now know, 60 years later, quite
accurately, of what the Soviets were actually doing in Cuba.

What is unique about this story is that it is an all-source story.
While the U-2 photographs get the credit for the discovery of the nuclear
deployment on the island of Cuba, it was but one of many sources

1. Richard Helms. “Intelligence in American Society,” Studies in Intelligence, Vol. 11, No.
3, Summer 1967, pp. 1-16. Adapted from a talk given before the Council on Foreign Rela-
tions on April 17, 1987.
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that contributed to answering the questions that the administration
posed to the Director of Central Intelligence, John McCone, and other
intelligence professionals. The intelligence that made a difference to
President Kennedy and administration leaders came from all sources:
clandestine human agents, refuge interrogations, communications inter-
cepts, electronic means, overhead photography, and open sources. DCI
McCone had the temperament, and the drive to bring all intelligence
sources—those at the national level and those from the intelligence
components of the military services—together to paint the intelligence
picture for senior policymakers at a time of severe national crisis and
extreme leadership stress.

The single most defining feature of the Soviet adventure in Cuba
was the extreme secrecy—enveloped by measures to conceal, to mis-
lead, to deceive, to cover up and to lie—that was integral to each and
every aspect of the plan. The Soviets had long used such measures to
conceal their actions and intentions, but in Operation Anadyr, as the
Soviets named their Cuban misadventure, it went to extremes. Anadyr
was executed brilliantly and but for one fatal flaw would have succeeded
in achieving Khrushchev’s objective of presenting President Kennedy
with a fait accompli—nuclear missiles stationed in his neighborhood
ready and able to deliver a devastating nuclear strike against most any
part of the United States.

A DCI once said, the task of intelligence is to uncover that which an
adversary is determined to keep secret. In the case of Operation Anadyr,
U.S. intelligence was supremely challenged to penetrate the security
bubble in which Anadyr was encapsulated. It succeeded remarkably
well, even brilliantly in some respects. But the U.S. intelligence record is
not an unblemished one. Authors Alexander George and Richard Smoke
note that most experts agree that the discovery of the Soviet missiles and
the way this was accomplished must be considered a distinct success for
U.S. intelligence. At the same time, they maintain that U.S. intelligence
could and should have become suspicious of Soviet activities sooner than
they did. “The discovery of the missiles on October 14 came none too
soon. The initial batch of medium-range ballistic missiles (MRBM’s)
were nearing readiness; had these missiles become operational before
or very shortly after they were discovered, Kennedy would have been
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faced with just the difficult problem the Soviets were hoping to impose
on him [a fait accompli]. In this crisis the timing of the intelligence dis-
covery of the opponent’s challenge to deterrence played a pivotal role,
of what must be classified as a near-failure of American intelligence,
... that came fairly close to generating a U.S. intelligence and foreign
policy failure of the first magnitude.”

It must also be said that U.S. intelligence missed and misjudged key
elements of the Soviet threat in Cuba. While not critical to the resolution
of the crisis, those errors would have been devastating to U.S. forces had
they invaded the island, an option seriously contemplated—and strongly
advocated by the military—from the very beginning of the crisis.

An Intelligence Leader for the Times

Following the Bay of Pigs disaster,® President Kennedy replaced
DCI Allen Dulles with John McCone. Kennedy believed the DCI should
be a strong leader of the intelligence community. A 16 January 1962
memorandum instructing McCone on his duties as DCI contained
the following charge: “In carrying out your newly assigned duties as
Director of Central Intelligence, it is my wish that...you undertake, as
an integral part of your responsibility, the coordination and effective
guidance of the total United States foreign intelligence effort.”™

McCone believed that the DCI should be the chief intelligence
officer in the U.S. government and he acted as such during the Cuban
Missile Crisis. He believed that he could best serve the President by
ensuring that the community, not just CIA, provided the most accurate

2. Alexander L. George and Richard Smoke. Deterrence in American Foreign Policy:
Theory and Practice, New York & London: Columbia University Press, 1974, p. 473.

3. In a disastrous setback for the United States, CIA-backed Cuban exiles who invaded
Cuba at the Bay of Pigs in April 1961 were soundly defeated by Cuban forces. The inva-
sion led Cubans to fear an imminent full-scale U.S. invasion and asked the Russians for
defensive weapons. The Cuban Missile Crisis began eighteen months later. Some argue
that the Crisis can be traced to the Bay of Pigs disaster. (See James G. Blight and Janet M.
Lang. Dark Beyond Darkness; The Cuban Missile Crisis as History, Warning, and Cata-
lyst, Lanham, Boulder, New York, London: Roman & Littlefield, 2018. p. 32.)

4. The full text of this unclassified instruction is in Michael Warner (editor). Central Intel-
ligence: Origin and Evolution, CIA History Staff, 2001, pp. 67-8.
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and timely intelligence possible. With his focus on intelligence com-
munity matters, he sought to delegate day-to-day authority over the
CIA to his deputy, General Marshall S. Carter, enabling him to devote
as much time as he could to his role as titular head of the intelligence
community.® According to a former CIA Chief Historian, McCone
was one of the best leaders and managers CIA—and the intelligence
community—ever had. “One can make a persuasive argument that he
was the best.”

In a study of DCIs as Intelligence Community leaders, Douglas F.
Garthoft (not to be confused with Raymond Garthoff, later) wrote that
John McCone enthusiastically welcomed the community leadership
role, and he clearly believed that his talent and experience were suited
to the task. Kennedy’s memorandum instructed McCone to work closely
with the “heads of all departments and agencies having responsibili-
ties in the foreign intelligence field,” signaling that the DCI outranked
the intelligence chiefs in those units and would be expected to deal
directly with their bosses. McCone recognized that DOD *“owned” the
intelligence elements in the military services, the Defense Intelligence
Agency, and the National Security Agency (NSA), but he believed
that much of what they did was “national” in character and therefore
something with which he should be concerned. Kennedy’s memoran-
dum stated the expectation that the DCI would delegate much of the
task of running the CIA to his deputy, thus allowing him to carry out
better his primary task as Director of Central Intelligence. Accordingly,
McCone had his deputy represent CIA in USIB’ deliberations, allowing
McCone to better represent the position of the whole intelligence com-
munity before the ExComm,* and on occasions he did take positions

5. David Robarge. John McCone as Director of Central Intelligence, 1961-1965, Center for
the Study of Intelligence, Central Intelligence Agency, 2005.

6. Ibid, p. vii.

7. The United States Intelligence Board was the community organization on which sat the
most senior leaders of intelligence agencies and departments.

8. Immediately after the President learned of the Soviet missiles in Cuba, he asked presi-
dential assistant McGeorge Bundy to assemble with great secrecy a select group of advi-
sors to assist him in countering the Soviet aggression. The members of the Executive
Committee (ExComm) of the National Security Council, as the group called itself, were
Kennedy; Secretary of State Dean Rusk; Defense Secretary Robert McNamara; Treasury
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that were at odds with CIA’s position. McCone also used the Office of
National Estimates (ONE) as an instrument through which he exercised
leadership in producing intelligence estimates for the President and the
ExComm. In his study, Garthoff concluded that McCone was “the most
community-minded DCI up to the 1970s.®

As noted by Raymond Garthoff, a distinguished scholar of the
Cuban Missile Crisis, “The integrative process of intelligence worked™
[author’s emphasis]. Garthoff also wrote “The members of the intel-
ligence community in Washington worked well together during the
crisis... CIA played a lead role, but by no means a lone role.” DCI
McCone held USIB meetings every morning of the crisis. Those meet-
ings served to coordinate intelligence activities and information across
all agencies, and prepared McCone to update ExComm at the beginning
of each meeting on the latest intelligence regardless of its source."

In praise of the integrated intelligence effort Ray Cline, former
CIA deputy director, said the main thing to note about the crisis is that
CIA coordinated a comprehensive interagency collection and analysis
program aimed at discovering what kinds of military weapons the USSR
was sending to Cuba.”? The Chief of NSA’s operations during the crisis,
Juanita Moody, observed: “The community was a cumbersomely put
together thing, although I think and | agree with Mr. McCone that the

Secretary Douglas Dillon; JCS Chairman General Maxwell Taylor; Attorney General
Robert Kennedy; DCI McCone; the President’s speechwriter, Theodore Sorenson; Bundy;
and others at times.

9. Douglas F. Garthoff. Directors of Central Intelligence as Leaders of the U.S. Intelli-
gence Community, Washington, D.C.: CIA Center for the Study of Intelligence, 2005, pp.
41-4, 66.

10. Raymond L. Garthoff. “U.S. Intelligence in the Cuban Missile Crisis,” in James G.
Blight and David A. Welch (editors). Intelligence and the Cuban Missile Crisis, London,
Portland, Or: Frank Cass, 1998, pp. 53-5.

11. A very contrarian view, and a naive one in this author’s opinion, is that of Amy Zegart
who published “The Cuban Missile Crisis as Intelligence Failure” in Policy Review, Octo-
ber 2, 2012. She wrote “The Central Intelligence Agency was central in name only.” Her
article is replete with comments such as “organizational fragmentation existed;” “invisible
fault lines within and across intelligence agencies;” structural fragmentation; “intelligence
reporting and analysis of the Cuban situation was handled by half a dozen different agen-
cies; “structural secrecy.”

12. Ray S. Cline. Secrets, Spies and Scholars, Washington, D.C.; Acropolis Books, 1976,
p. 196.
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community did well with what they had.”"

The Intelligence Challenge

Moscow has always had a flair for concealing secret informa-
tion and for deceiving its adversaries in what is known in Russian as
maskirovka. Its intent is to protect Russian secrets from foreign intel-
ligence sources, especially concerning Russian intentions about the
nature, scope and timing of an operation. Soviet preparations for and
execution of critical aspects of their deployment of nuclear missiles to
Cuba—Operation Anadyr—is a case study in Russian maskirovka.

Soviet planning of the operation that began in the spring of 1962
was done under extreme secrecy and a strict need-to-know. The most
senior officers brought into the plan were told that Cuba was involved
in the operation, but only a few were informed of the exact nature of
the mission. For reasons of security, no communications about the
proposed, planned and actual Soviet deployments were sent, even by
coded message; everything was hand-carried by members of the small
group of senior officials who were directly involved. The Soviets even
misled their own officials about the objective of the operation by naming
it Anadyr, promoting a false allusion of an exercise in the far north of
Russia. To aid in concealing the true destination—Cuba—some units
were outfitted with winter clothing and equipment.

The secrecy and deception associated with Operation Anadyr was
highly effective from its start until the nuclear missiles were discovered
on 14 October.”* Conveniently for the U.S., the Soviets had made no
attempt to conceal the sites from overhead reconnaissance, even though
they were well aware of the American U-2 spy plane and its photographic
capabilities following the shooting down of Francis Gary Powers on 1
May 1960. The failure of the Soviets to hide and camouflage the sites
and the missiles is attributable to the Soviets following standard proce-

13. Moody interview by David Hatch, et al., 16 June 1994. NSA Center for Cryptologic
History Oral History Program.

14. James H. Hansen. “Soviet Deception in the Cuban Missile Crisis; Learning from the
Past,” Studies in Intelligence, 46, no. 1, 2002.
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dure; Soviet missiles deployed in the USSR were not camouflaged and
there was little thought given to camouflaging them in Cuba. Another
explanation is that Soviets did not regard the possibility of detection
once the missiles had been deployed as critical to the success of the
venture. The Soviets may also have thought that even if discovered,
the U.S would acquiesce, or at least would not react militarily to the
nuclear threat in its backyard. In the view of one student of the crisis
Khrushchev believed that the U.S. government would do nothing about
the deployment if'it did not recognize what was happening until the
missiles were in Cuba and on combat-ready status.'s

Khrushchev was so committed to covertly deploying the nuclear
missiles that he rejected pressure by Cuban officials in late September
of 1962 to go public with the missile deployment. After all, the Soviet
Union had every right to supply, and Cuba had every right to accept
such weapons. Had the missile deployment been an overt one, the U.S.
would have faced a much more difficult problem. The secrecy and
deception practiced by the Soviets made a strong case for the U.S. to
argue the missiles had to be removed, President Kennedy’s singular
goal throughout the crisis.

The shipment, unloading, land transport, installation, and com-
mand of the missiles sent to Cuba remained entirely under tight Soviet
control. At the proposed missile sites, Cuban farmers were arbitrarily
evicted from their lands. Soviet troops guarded the missile construction
areas around the clock—from the Cubans. Cubans were also excluded
from the dock areas as missiles were offloaded from ships that had
brought them to Cuba. All this effort was to ensure the security of the
operation, to ensure that the Americans were unaware of what was
going on, that is at least until the MRBM’s were in place and ready to
provide a here-and-now threat to the United States.'

Why did Khrushchev believe his covert plan would succeed, know-
ing that the deployment involved constructing facilities, clearing roads,

15. Robert M. Clark. “Soviet Deception and The Cuban Missile Crisis, When Intelligence
Made a Difference” The Intelligencer, Vol. 26, No. 2., Winter/Spring 2021, pp. 67-9.

16. Donald C. Wigglesworth. “The Cuban Missile Crisis: A SIGINT Perspective,” NSA
Cryptologic Quarterly, Vol. 13, No. 1, Spring 1994, p. 82.
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erecting launch equipment and all manner of other activities, which
created signatures easily seen by U.S. overhead reconnaissance? Schol-
ars Blight and Welch believe the answer is that he was over-confident,
and along with other Soviet leaders did not appreciate the logistical
technicalities involved. An unanswered question raised by Blight and
Welch is why Soviet military intelligence was not tasked to assess the
likelihood of a successful covert deployment.'”

Some have theorized that the Soviets and Cubans mounted a major
campaign using HUMINT channels to bolster the deception effort. In
a bold and risky move, the planners supposedly leaked accurate infor-
mation about the deployment so as to mask it, to make the Americans
disbelieve the truth of what they were hearing. The information was
supposedly funneled through counterrevolutionary organizations in the
United States, especially Miami. The CIA discounted the information,
because it did not consider the groups and people peddling it to be cred-
ible. This strategy was highly effective, according to a former Cuban
intelligence officer.”® Blight and Welch posed the question: Did the KGB
orchestrate a campaign to mask the nuclear deployment by funneling
accurate information about it to the CIA through Cuban sources? They
conclude it is entirely plausible to imagine, though not certain, that the
KGB and Cuban intelligence did cooperate on such a campaign.

In a discussion of the Soviets’ extraordinary security measures, a
report of the National Indications Center of 15 July 1963 stated, “It is
noteworthy, even for the USSR, that there was not a single known leak
through the Soviet or satellite channels of the true nature of Soviet ship-
ments to Cuba, that security restrictions on the movement of equipment
and troops into and through Soviet ports were so rigid that no informa-
tion has ever been obtained on them, and that, although thousands of
Soviet troops were deployed in Cuba, there was no discernible reflec-
tion of this in communications and no leaks through operator chatter,
except for a few references in mid-September to a call for military

17. James G. Blight and David A. Welch. Intelligence and the Cuban Missile Crisis,
London: Routledge, 1998, p. 185.

18. James H. Hansen cites Domingo Amuchastegui, “Cuban Intelligence and the October
Crisis,” in Blight and Welch, p. 101.
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volunteers for Cuba.”™ In other words, Soviet communications security
was almost perfect.

Khrushchev failed to accomplish his plan for a fait accompli. That
plan called for Anadyr to remain secret until the missiles were ready
to serve their intended purpose—a cheap, but temporary righting of
the strategic imbalance, the deterrence of an American invasion of
the island, and the reemergence of the Soviet Union as a major player
on the world stage. His wishful thinking blinded him to the two fatal
flaws in his plan—Americans not knowing and American’s acceptance.
Had Khrushchev consulted those around him who knew better, they
would have told him of the folly of his plan, but he felt no need to do
so. Nevertheless, credit must be given to the Soviets for having been
almost successful in this difficult task despite the zealous efforts of the
American intelligence establishment.

The Early Period; 16 — 22 October

Tuesday morning, 16 October 1962, President Kennedy was told
of the nuclear missiles that the Soviet Union had installed on the island
of Cuba. On 22 October, Kennedy would go on nation-wide television
to announce it to the American public and the world. The crisis ended
Sunday morning 28 October with the Soviet agreement to remove the
missiles. Those thirteen days between the beginning and the end of
the crisis, immortalized in Robert Kennedy’s book Thirteen Days,
were a supreme test of U.S. intelligence as it sought to understand
what Khrushchev was doing in Cuba using every means possible to
find out.® What follows are the questions that President Kennedy and
his advisors asked, or should have asked of intelligence, and #ow, and
how well, the intelligence community answered them. In answering the
“how well” we are able to compare the intelligence of the period with
what we now know the Soviets were actually doing in Cuba at the time
based on Russian revelations.

19. Donald Wigglesworth, p. 86.
20. Robert F. Kennedy. Thirteen Days: A Memoir of the Cuban Missile Crisis, New York:
W.W. Norton, 1971.



Heitchue ...The Cuban Missile Crisis AFI0 Monograph Series

[Khrushchev’s Intentions?

Post mortems of intelligence performance in the crisis tend to
highlight the estimative failure—the failure to estimate that Soviet
leadership would deploy nuclear missiles to Cuba. A crucial estimate
said, in effect, that a missile deployment to Cuba was unlikely, though
not impossible, although the “not impossible” was not included in the
estimate’s conclusions.

The intelligence estimate that would come in for extensive criti-
cism for how it misjudged Soviet intentions was occasioned by a steep
acceleration in Soviet deliveries of weapons to Cuba in the summer of
1962. Special National Intelligence Estimate (SNIE) 85-3-62 judged it
unlikely the Soviets would introduce strategic offensive weapons into
Cuba although it did not entirely dismiss the possibility, just that it was
unlikely.?!

In preparing the SNIE, the estimators searched for information
indicative of the nature of Soviet weapons, but lacking such hard
evidence they concluded that the military equipment piling into Cuba
indicated a Soviet attempt to give Castro a formidable defensive capa-
bility to serve as a deterrent to U.S. military moves to overthrow him.
The estimators also gave thought to how the Soviets might perceive
American attitudes to basing strategic missiles in Cuba and concluded
that the Soviets would have estimated that the American people and
government would be outraged by such action, leading the estimators
to the judgment that the Soviets would not undertake the great risks
involved in such a deployment.

As the SNIE was being prepared, it was clear to U.S. intelligence
that shipping of armaments to Cuba had dramatically increased after
mid-July. But in a report of intelligence performance, the CIA Inspector
General concluded that the intelligence analysts and the estimators never
carried their analyses and estimates to the point of asking themselves:

21. Special National Intelligence Estimate SNIE 85-3-62, “The Military Buildup in Cuba,”
was prepared by CIA’s Board of National Estimates (BNE). It was issued by USIB on 19
September 1962 without dissenting opinions with the full support of intelligence commu-
nity leaders.
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“Is it reasonable to believe that so costly a defensive apparatus would
be constructed against a nebulous invasion threat, particularly since the
defensive structure would not halt a determined invader?”

Once the nuclear missiles were discovered, Sherman Kent, who
as Director of the Office of National Estimates was responsible for the
erroneous estimate, realized that the estimate of the Soviets under-
standing of the mood of the United States and its probable reaction
was wrong. The Soviets had misjudged the United States. Kent noted
that “we verified that our own feeling for the mood of the United States
and its probable reaction had been correct. In a way our misestimate
of Soviet intentions got an ex post facto validation.” In defense of the
estimate, Kent wrote that no estimate can be expected to divine when
the enemy is about to make a dramatically wrong decision. “We missed
the Soviet decision to put missiles in Cuba because we could not believe
that Khrushchev could make such a mistake.”

Khrushchev’s miscalculation was based in part on wishful think-
ing. He seems not to have imagined that if the Soviet gains from a
successful venture were to be so great, it was probable that the U.S.
would recognize what was at stake and therefore probable that the U.S.
would react to deny such gains to its principal antagonist. Khrushchev
was his own analyst. He didn’t ask the KGB for an assessment of a
probable U.S. reaction, nor Soviet military intelligence, the GRU, for
an assessment of how likely it would be that the missiles would not be
discovered until the deployment was complete.

In preparing SNIE 85-3-62 the estimators had limited hard intelli-
gence. The U.S. did not have a secret source high in the Soviet leadership

22. Inspector General’s Survey of Handling of Intelligence During the Cuban Arms Build-
up August to mid-October 1962, 12 November 1962, from the National Security Archive
“The Cuban Missile Crisis at 55,” p. 35.

23. Sherman Kent. “A Crucial Estimate Relived,” Studies in Intelligence, Vol. 8, No. 2,
Spring 1964.

24. Aleksandr Fursenko and Timothy Naftali. “Soviet Intelligence and the Cuban Missile
Crisis” in James G. Blight and David A. Welch (editors), Intelligence and the Cuban Mis-
sile Crisis, London: Frank Cass, 1998. Blight’s and Welch’s volume is a unique collection
of articles on the activities of U.S., Soviet, and Cuban intelligence services during the
Crisis.



Heitchue ...The Cuban Missile Crisis AFI0 Monograph Series

with access to Soviet thinking and deliberations. Hard intelligence on
the dramatic increase in Soviet deliveries to Cuba after July 1962 was
limited as the nature of the ships’ cargo was unknown. Despite numer-
ous reports from secret agents in Cuba and refugees at the Opa Locka
Interrogation Center, most of what was reported was considered soft,
not hard intelligence. Lacking hard intelligence, the estimators turned
to assessing Soviet intentions as the basis for the estimate. Unable to
read the minds of Soviet officials, the estimators reviewed past Soviet
actions as a way to predict future actions. However, the Soviet Union
had never before deployed nuclear missiles beyond its borders.

Blight and Welch cite the problems of this approach: Using past
behavior, how could the estimators assess the likelihood of something
that had never happened before? One cannot infer future intentions
from present behavior, nor infer present intentions from past behavior.
Further, past Soviet behavior was a composite of the behavior of several
Soviet leaders, only one of whom was Khrushchev, and he had not yet
had much of an opportunity to leave his imprint.?

The President’s Foreign Intelligence Advisory Board (PFIAB) in
its after crisis report to Kennedy took aim at SNIE 85-3-62 saying that
senior U.S. officials were ill-served by the “mistaken judgment.” The
report attributed the mistaken judgment to a lack of adequate coverage
of Cuba, the rigor with which the view was held that the Soviet Union
would not assume the risks of such a deployment, and the absence of
an imaginative appraisal of the intelligence indicators which, while
limited in number, were contained in reports disseminated by intel-
ligence agencies.?

In his response to the PFIAB report DCI McCone wrote that intel-
ligence community analysts including the State Department “were so
convinced that the Soviets would not accept the inevitable confronta-
tion resulting from placing missiles in Cuba that they were inclined to

25. James G. Blight and David A. Welch, “The Cuban Missile Crisis and Intelligence Per-
formance” in Intelligence and the Cuban Missile Crisis, p. 195.

26. The White House President’s Foreign Intelligence Advisory Board Memorandum for
the President, dated February 4, 1963. Mary S. McAuliffe, editor. CI4 Documents on the
Cuban Missile Crisis 1962, CIA History Staff, October 1992, pp. 361-71.



AFI0 Monograph Series Heitchue ..The Cuban Missile Crisis

dismiss such evidence as there was to the contrary. This, I find, is one
of the difficulties of dealing with the imponderables of what the other
fellow will or will not do.””

In forming their conclusion that the Soviets would not put missiles
in Cuba, U.S. analysts noted the risks the Soviets would be taking in the
form of a strong American response. What they failed to see were the
benefits that would accrue from such a risky endeavor. Roger Hilsman,
who served as director of the Bureau of Intelligence and Research in
the State Department, has argued the one big intelligence failure was
the inability to see the “missile gap in reverse.” A speech by Deputy
Secretary of Defense Gilpatric had made abundantly clear to Soviet
leaders that they were in a horrible strategic position vis-a-vis the U.S.
The Soviets knew they were in a weak strategic position, and they knew
the U.S. knew they were weak. Surely the Soviets would take action to
deal with the imbalance. What U.S. intelligence didn’t imagine was the
manner by which the Soviets chose to address the problem. “The single
most important failure of the entire American effort in dealing with the
Cuban Missile Crisis was the failure to recognize that putting missiles in
Cuba was a cheap, if only temporary, solution to what everyone recog-
nized the Soviets would regard as a very serious problem.” According to
Hilsman, if the intelligence community had recognized this possibility
and brought it forcefully to the attention of senior officials, it is very
probable that the president would have warned the Soviets of the dire
consequences of such action. Had the president issued such a warning
ahead of the Soviets fateful decision in the spring of 1962, they might
have been dissuaded from sending missiles to Cuba, and there would
therefore have been no missile crisis at all.?* #

In hindsight, the much-maligned SNIE could have said the Soviets
probably would not put missiles in Cuba, while giving more acknowl-
edgment to the possibility they might. Either way, it seems it would have

27. McCone Memorandum for the President, 28 February 1963. McAuliffe, pp. 373-4.

28. Roger Hilsman. The Cuban Missile Crisis; the Struggle over Policy, Westport, CT:
Praeger, 1996, p. 63.

29. President Kennedy had made a public statement on 13 September warning the Soviets,
but at that time Operation Anadyr was well underway. Kennedy Library archives, Papers
of John F. Kennedy. Presidential Papers. President’s Office Files.
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made little difference as to how U.S. leaders responded to the crisis, or
to intelligence operations. As Blight and Welch wrote: “It is ironic that
the U.S. intelligence community made such an intense effort to look
for something that they did not expect to see.”®

Another report concerning intelligence performance said “For the
record, there is no evidence that the existence of SNIE 85-3 [sic] had
any inhibiting influence on later decisions. It was not, for instance, cited
to support an argument against continuing overflights. Nor did it affect
current intelligence reporting.”' A somewhat contrary view is that of the
IG report: “Although proofis lacking and evidence is scanty, we believe
SNIE 85-3 [sic] and the political and operational climate from which it
grew did have a significant effect on the use made of raw information
during late September and early October. Not only do we believe that
the estimators influenced the analysts, but that the analysts influenced
the reporters.” The report cited one example: Concerning the report
of surface-to-surface missiles [meaning nuclear missiles] in Cuba on
19 September, headquarters commented that it is more likely that the
missiles were SA-2’s. The report as written was probably accurate.”?

The U.S. “failure” to predict Soviet missiles going to Cuba sits
alongside the Soviets real failures: the inability to accurately assess
the American response to the missiles and the belief that they would
remain undiscovered until they were operational. The Soviet misestima-
tion cannot be attributed to the KGB, but rather to Khrushchev himself
who operated as his own intelligence analyst. KGB Chairman Vladimir
Semichastny enjoyed far less influence as Russia’s spymaster than his
nominal equivalent in the Unites States, the Director of Central Intel-
ligence. Consequently, in the Cuban Missile Crisis the Chairman of the
KGB would neither be invited to a Presidium meeting nor have a single
face-to-face meeting with Khrushchev. Unlike the U.S. misestimate,
the Soviet misestimate had dire consequences: A huge embarrassment

30. Blight and Welch, Intelligence and the Cuban Missile Crisis, p. 198.

31. CIA memorandum, Richard Lehman to Director of Central Intelligence, “CIA Han-
dling of the Soviet Build-up in Cuba, 1 July — 16 October 1962,” 14 November 1962 with
cover memorandum attached 15 November 1962, from the National Security Archive “The
Cuban Missile Crisis at 55,” p. 16.

32. Inspector General’s Survey, p. 31.
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to the Soviet Union and to Khrushchev personally, and the exposure
for all to see of the weak Soviet strategic position.*

What the intelligence estimators failed to see; DCI McCone saw
clearly. He believed that offensive missiles had been deployed to Cuba.
Throughout the period of the Cuban arms buildup, he urged an inter-
pretation of its significance that received little or no acceptance else-
where in the community. In mid-August, McCone on several occasions
speculated on the probability of medium-range ballistic missiles. On
23 August, in a meeting with the President and other senior officials,
the Director questioned the need for the extensive surface-to-air SA-2
missiles unless they were there to make possible the concealment of
offensive missiles. In his view they were installed to prevent observa-
tion by U.S. overhead reconnaissance of the offensive missiles. During
September, McCone repeated his belief that offensive weapons would
be installed in Cuba, urged frequent reconnaissance missions and sug-
gested that the Board of National Estimates study the motives behind
the defensive missile measures. Were they there to blind U.S. recon-
naissance? Ironically, the fear that SA-2 missiles might shoot down a
U-2 reconnaissance aircraft led senior officials to scale back plans for
U-2 coverage of the island, a self-induced blindness.

Of note in this regard is an after-action report by the commander
of the offensive missile forces in Cuba, Major-General Igor Statsenko
who wrote that the air defense system of the group of forces in Cuba
was brought to combat readiness on 10.01.62 [sic] and was on combat
duty, but for some reason it was allowed to turn on its radar tracking
system only on 10.26.62 [sic]. Thus, the debarkation of the troops in
Cuba and their actions were constantly monitored from the air. “We
believe that the air defense units of the Soviet Group of Forces in Cuba
did not fulfill their mission in Cuba, which was to cover and secure the
main strike force—the missile forces [Statsenko’s emphasis]. Naturally,
this allowed the U.S. to partially uncover the formation and location of
our troops during the most demanding and stressful period.”* Major-

33. Fursenko and Naftali. “Soviet Intelligence and the Cuban Missile Crisis,” in Blight and
Welch, p. 65.
34. Report of Major-General Igor Demyanovich Statsenko, Commander of the 51st Missile
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General Statsenko’s complaint about the poor performance of the Soviet
air defense is interesting in light of McCone’s thesis that the SA-2 sites
were there to protect the nuclear missiles from being detected by the
U-2. McCone was, of course, right all along about the Soviets deploying
nuclear missiles to Cuba.

McCone’s beliefs had no evidentiary basis. They were apparently a
reflection of his instincts and fears and did not influence the estimators
who were unprepared to believe that the Soviets might install offensive
weapons in Cuba or that the Soviets would grossly underestimate the
United States ability to detect an offensive buildup and to react to it
with forthright resolution.?

A CIA Clandestine Services officer posited a surprising reserva-
tion concerning the estimators’ view of the Soviet attitude towards the
Cuban venture as reflected in SNIE 85-3-62. J.J. Rumpelmayer wrote
that “neither the U.S. estimate of the Soviet view of a U.S. reaction nor
that Soviet view need have been wrong.” “On the contrary, there is
evidence that the Soviets did show, as the estimate put it, “a far greater
willingness to increase the level of risk in U.S.-Soviet relations than
the USSR had displayed thus far’—because the stakes were higher than
ever before—but were prepared to back down if caught.” He cites as an
indicator that the Soviets were prepared to pull out of Cuba if detected in
the promptness with which they executed the disengagement operation
as soon as they were convinced that the U.S. was ready to act. “They
recalled to Soviet ports all vessels suitable for missile loadings. . .without
even waiting for the blockade to be put into effect, evidently acting on
a contingency plan they would presumably not have had ready if they
had really underestimated the U.S. reaction.” Rumpelmayer says the
Soviets judged the United States correctly but were not taking irrevo-
cable action and considered the possibility of a radical improvement in
their strategic position worth the risk involved.®

Divisions about the Actions of the Division from 07.12.62 through 12.01.1962, National
Security Archive Electronic Briefing Book, No. 449, p. 19.

35. Inspector General’s Survey, pp. 33-6.

36. J.J. Rumpelmayer. “The Missiles In Cuba,” Studies in Intelligence, Vol. 8, Fall 1964,
pp- 87-92.
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Rumpelmayer’s theory was thoroughly debunked by CIA analysts
who issued (but are not named as authors) the classic retrospective
works of the crisis.*” They say that Rumpelmayer’s contention that the
Soviets were willing to increase greatly the level of risk because the
gains to be made were so great—but they were prepared to withdraw
if caught—is manifestly false unless one assumes the missiles were to
be used solely for a surprise attack on the United States. Their useful-
ness for anything else depended on their being caught or their presence
being known when the program was completed.

The authors of the above cited retrospective studies both said that
Khrushchev recognized from the start that there was some degree of
risk of an American attack at one or another point in the venture but
believed this risk to be small. Furthermore, that Khrushchev recognized
from the start a possibility of failure but believed at least until Septem-
ber—perhaps until mid-October—that the United States would probably
acquiesce, and until late October that the venture could be managed to
his profit even if the United States did not acquiesce. They agree that
Khrushchev had something of a contingency plan for withdrawal, but
his improvised and erratic behavior in the week of the crisis seemed to
indicate that he did not expect to fail. The authors agree with Sherman
Kent that Khrushchev made a serious mistake in judgment. He seems
not to have recognized that the United States would act to prevent its
principal antagonist from a fait accompli, just as Kennedy had repeat-
edly told him.*

hat Are Those Ships Carrying?

Soviet shipping to Cuba began to increase dramatically in mid-July
1962, leading intelligence analysts to conclude that something unusual
was happening. Arms shipment to Cuba had averaged about two ship-
loads a month during the first half of 1962, but jumped to 125 voyages

37. Cuba 1962: Khrushchev’s Miscalculated Risk, CIA/ORR DD/I Staff Study, 13 Febru-
ary 1964 and “The Soviet Missile Base Venture in Cuba,” CIA/RSS, DDI Staff Study/RS,
Spring 1964.

38. Harlow T. Munson and W. P. Southard. “Two Witnesses for the Defense,” Studies in
Intelligence, Vol. 8, 1964, pp. 93-8.
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involving military cargoes in the three months between the last days of
July and the establishment of the U.S. quarantine on 22 October. The
Soviet pattern of arms deliveries to Cuba had changed so dramatically
and abruptly that U.S. leadership could have concluded that the arma-
ments being delivered represented more than could be justified for the
defense of the island nation.

The U.S. was unable to definitively ascertain the types of weapons
the Soviets were shipping despite intelligence that was collected through
communications intercepts, maritime surveillance, and human sources
when the ships were approaching Cuba or in port being off loaded.
Photographs of ships bound for Cuba were acquired from a variety of
sources, especially U.S. Navy ships and aircraft, and were sent to the
National Photographic Interpretation Center (NPIC) in Washington for
interpretation.® As the ships approached Cuba, they were picked up by
the Marine photo squadron based at Guantanamo and by Coast Guard
planes operating out of Miami.*

Despite the lack of definitive evidence that nuclear missiles were
being carried by the Soviet ships, there were indications to that effect.
Photographs of ships at sea were taken from all aspects and would
have clearly shown that some of the ships were riding high in the
water, indicative of a cargo that took up a lot of space but was not very
heavy—Ilike a big missile empty of fuel. The ships that sailed to Cuba
after mid-July included a group of large-hatch ships, the only Soviet-
flag vessels capable of transporting nuclear missiles below decks. U.S.
intelligence knew (perhaps retrospectively) about the large-hatch ships
and some of the details of their construction. As far as could be deter-
mined none of those ships were built for the purpose of clandestinely
transporting the missiles. However, that probably could not have been
accomplished before these large-hatch vessels became available.*

39. NPIC was an intelligence community organization, administered by CIA, and staffed
with photographic interpretation experts from CIA, DIA and the military services, located
in Washington, D.C.

40. Dino A. Brugioni. Eyeball to Eyeball; The Inside Story of the Cuban Missile Crisis,
New York: Random House, 1995, p. 73.

41. “Cuba 1962: Khrushchev’s Miscalculated Risk,” pp. 22-3. Declassified June 2017.
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Soviet military equipment being shipped to Cuba was frequently
carried on deck in packing crates. Those crates were photographed and
the images measured, analyzed and compared with crates and their
contents that U.S. intelligence had earlier photographed elsewhere (a
technique known as cratology). On 28 September 1962 photographs of
the Soviet ship Kasimov showed crates loaded on deck that U.S intel-
ligence recognized and were associated with Russian IL-28 bombers.
The U.S. considered the arrival of IL-28 bombers in Cuba as significant
(they would play a major role in the concluding stages of the crisis).
Though the Russian IL-28 bombers were obsolescent, they were capable
of carrying nuclear bombs and were therefore considered to be offensive,
the category of weapons that Washington was determined to eliminate
from Cuba. While the crates had been photographed on 28 September,
the photographic intelligence did not reach Washington until October
9. When Deputy CIA Director Ray Cline informed McCone of this
important piece of information, McCone remarked, “How the hell did
the Navy get them to Washington, by rowboat.” Then McCone asked
Cline when the Kasimov had reached Cuba and when told it had arrived
on 4 October, McCone said the information wasn’t intelligence, it was
history.#

Moscow, apparently concerned about the U.S. photographing
deck cargo on their Cuba bound ships, attempted to solve the problem
diplomatically. At the time when shipping to Cuba was accelerating,
in July 1962 the Soviets complained that U.S. reconnaissance missions
conducted in international waters amounted to harassment and requested
that the flights be stopped for the sake of better bilateral relations. This
appears to have been an effort by Khrushchev to delay the discovery of
weapons related to Operation Anadyr.* Fursenko and Naftali wrote that
Kennedy missed the significance of Khrushchev’s interest in reducing
U.S. intelligence collection on Soviet shipping.*

42. Brugioni. Eyeball to Eyeball, pp. 172-3.

43. Hansen. “Soviet Deception.”

44. Aleksandr Fursenko and Timothy Naftali. One Hell of a Gamble: Khrushchev, Castro
& Kennedy 1958-1964, New York: W.W.Norton, 1997, p. 194.
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Something that was overlooked at the time was that two of the
Soviet ships, the Omsk and the Poltava, were diverted from their normal
tasks to carry arms to Cuba and had exceptionally large hatches. Also
significant in hindsight was the fact that the intelligence reports routinely
noted they were riding high in the water. Neither of these facts was
brought to the attention of either policymakers or the top levels of the
intelligence agencies until after the missiles had been discovered. Roger
Hilsman has written that the shipping experts did not see those facts as
unusual or disturbing enough even to call attention to them, much less
explain them away. He sees this as clearly an intelligence failure—a
failure of imagination, a failure to probe, speculate, and ask percep-
tive questions of the data. But he also says that no action would have
been taken on the basis of this “suggestive,” soft information, and that
it would have made little difference because top officials were already
so sensitive to the possibility of missiles that they were “quivering.”™

Communications intelligence was a key source of intelligence on
Soviet shipping. NSA routinely monitored Soviet naval and commercial
ship radio traffic in the North Atlantic in conjunction with GCHQ and
the Canadian SIGINT agency.*® SIGINT provided intelligence on daily
ship positions, tonnages, destinations, and cargoes, as well as Soviet
attempts to deny or falsify this information. This led NSA analysts to
conclude that there was something secret and unusual going on. The
record shows that NSA did an excellent job tracking Soviet merchant
ships, although the author of The Secret Sentry fails to recognize the
other sources that contributed significant intelligence when he states ...
virtually everything that the U.S. intelligence community knew about
Soviet shipments came from SIGINT.*

CIA had kept abreast of the intelligence on Soviet shipping that
was coming in from NSA and NPIC, and it had established a shipping
task force in the Office of Current Intelligence. CIA efforts to report

45. Hilsman, p. 53.

46. GCHQ (Government Communications Headquarters) is the British SIGINT agency.
The Canadian SIGINT agency in 1962 was the Communications Security Establishment
Canada (CSEC).

47. Matthew M. Aid. The Secret Sentry; The Untold History of the National Security
Agency, New York: Bloomsbury Press, 2009, p. 64.
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that Soviet ships were carrying military equipment was met with
stiff resistance from DIA and the Pentagon. JCS Chairman General
Maxwell Taylor* challenged CIA’s statement that “Many Soviet ships
are involved in hauling military gear [to Cuba].” In his challenge he
cited from the DIA Intelligence Summary: “The high volume of ship-
ping probably reflects planned increases in trade between the USSR
and Cuba.” General Taylor was quoted as saying he had seen no hard
evidence of armaments going to Cuba...that in his opinion the Soviet
aid to Cuba was purely economic. Furthermore, Taylor asked the State
Department to withdraw a memo which noted an upsurge in Bloc ves-
sels traveling to Cuba under conditions suggesting increasing deliveries
of arms. These incidents illustrate the disagreement which prevailed
throughout August between CIA and the defense establishment over
interpretation of intelligence on the movement of shipping to Cuba. DIA
publications of August and September insisted that increased shipping
reflected an increased flow of economic aid. Disagreement between
CIA and DIA over the interpretation of evidence persisted until 10
October. While speculative, DIA’s actions could certainly have had a
chilling effect on efforts to better understand the nature of what Soviet
ships were transporting.*

The Soviets largely succeeded in concealing the immense task of
transporting thousands of personnel—41,900 as later revealed by the
Russians—and huge amounts of military equipment to a far off place
thousands of miles from home.*® U.S. inability to better understand
what the Soviets were shipping to Cuba can be seen as an intelligence
failure because analysts knew there was something more secret being
shipped than conventional military weapons as evidenced by unusual
secret off loadings at night. U.S. intelligence clearly saw that Soviet
ships were lightly loaded but with large hatches, and the pace of weap-

48. President Kennedy brought General Taylor back to active duty in a newly created post
of military representative to the President. On 1 October 1962, Taylor became Chairman
of the Joint Chiefs of Staff.

49. Inspector General’s Survey, p. 8.
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the Soviet Ministry of Defense for Khrushchev. It lists the troops, weapons and equipment
to be sent to Cuba.
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ons delivery was much more than needed for a conventional defense of
Cuba. It knew the immense magnitude of the shipping from SIGINT
which also indicated that shipping information was being falsified. The
unusual aspects of the ships and other key indicators were revealed by
photographic reconnaissance, and clandestine human sources reported
something highly secret was going on at the Cuban ports when Soviet
ships unloaded.

The actual details of the Soviet deployment are now known based
on an after-action report by Soviet Major-General Igor Statsenko who
commanded the MRBM and IRBM missile regiments on Cuba.’' His
report describes the cover stories—"agricultural specialists”—used by
Soviet reconnaissance teams as they mapped out the MRBM sites, and
how the purpose of the operation was held in the strictest confidence
with only a strictly limited number of members of the Cuban Army
having been informed. The missiles were unloaded from the ships
only at night, under total blackout on the ships and in the ports. While
the missiles were being unloaded, all external approaches to the ports
were guarded by a squadron of 300 men. The missiles and parts were
transported to the deployment areas only at night in small columns, the
secrecy of which was aided by use of a decoy convoy and the staging
of fake car accidents.

Statsenko’s report identifies the Omsk, Kimovsk, Poltava, Krasno-
grad, and the Orenburg as having delivered 42 missiles, six of which
were for training, to the Ports of Casilda and Mariel between September
9 and October 16. (A retrospective analysis of intelligence available
at the time identified the same ships as those in Statsenko’s report.¥)

Are There Offensive Missiles in Cuba?

CIA agents in Cuba and Cubans who fled to the U.S. were in posi-
tions to see the movement of military equipment from the ports and
reported this information as soon as they were able. Agent reports were

51. Report of Major-General Statsenko, National Security Archive Electronic Briefing
Book, No. 449.
52. Inspector General’s Survey, Annex K.
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delayed because the information had to be concealed in secret writing
and mailed to accommodation addresses used by the CIA for secret
communications. Refugee reports were delayed because they needed
to make their way to the U.S. and arrive at the interrogation center in
Florida.

Soon after Castro’s triumphant arrival in Havana, the intelligence
community had been flooded with reports of Soviet weapons and mis-
sile installations. To process the flow of information, CIA established
a Joint Interrogation Center at a former Marine Corps air base at Opa
Locka near Miami. The Center was known as the Caribbean Admis-
sion Center and manned by trained interrogators from the military and
CIA. It was administered by CIA, and in internal CIA organization
structure was known as a field office of the Domestic Contact Division
in the Directorate of Intelligence. The Center was established under
presidential authority and began operation on 15 February 1962. Opa
Locka did not operate like a typical CIA station. It brandished its overt
status and drummed up business by listing the phone number in the
local telephone book.*

By September 1962, the volume of agent and refugee reporting had
become very large. A substantial proportion of these reports concerned
defensive missiles and related activities. However, CIA analysts recog-
nized and correlated the first authentic reports of MRBM equipment
and took action on them. Two reports targeted the San Cristobal area as
a suspect SS-4 (MRBM) site. The two reports were: 1) An observation
on 12 September in Havana of a convoy carrying long canvas-covered
objects, which the source identified as resembling SS-4’s based on
photographs of the missile he was shown (the CIA photographs of the
SS-4 missile were obtained during a Moscow parade). This report,
which was disseminated by CIA on 27 September, contained sufficiently
accurate detail to alert intelligence analysts; 2) An observation on 17
September of a convoy moving toward the San Cristobal area. This
information, received on 1 October, dovetailed in many respects with
the earlier report.

53. Justin F. Gleichauf. “A Listening Post in Miami,” Studies in Intelligence, Winter-
Spring 2001.
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The arrival of the second report led CIA analysts to a tentative
conclusion that the two observers had in fact seen the same convoy,
and that there was a possibility of the SS-4 identification being genu-
ine, leading analysts to request U-2 reconnaissance of the area. The
justification for the U-2 coverage read: “Collateral reports indicate
the existence of a restricted area in Pinar del Rio Province which is
suspected of including an SSM [Surface-to-Surface Missile] site under
construction, particularly SS-4. The area is bounded by a line connect-
ing the following four towns: Consolacion del Norte; San Diego del Los
Banos; San Cristobal; and Las Pozos.™*

A report by a secret CIA agent in Cuba that was disseminated on 18
September grabbed the attention of Ted Shackley, chief of CIA’s Miami
station (cryptonym JMWAVE). It was the largest CIA station outside
its Langley headquarters, located on land owned by the University of
Miami and operated under the flimsy cover of “Zenith Technical Enter-
prises.” The secret agent had been recruited under the MONGOOSE
(see later) covert operation element at CIA, and in secret writing he
conveyed information about what he observed on 7 September of a
mountainous area near San Cristobal, 60 miles west of Havana, where
“very secret and important work” believed to involve missiles was in
progress. What made this agent report intriguing was that it coincided
with the two refugee reports that described large missiles last seen
heading west from Havana. The secret CI A agent was probably Esteban
Marquez Novo whose case officer was Tom Hewitt of the Miami station.
Hewitt’s work with Marquez Novo was recognized by Jack Downing,
former CIA deputy director of operations. (See Vignettes, Operation
Cobra, for a description of agent AMBANTY’s efforts.)

DIA analysts were also closely monitoring reporting of military
equipment in Cuba and were particularly struck by the deployment pat-
tern of SA-2 defensive missiles. DIA analyst Col. John R. Wright, Jr.
and his staff became increasingly interested in the SA-2 sites near San
Cristobal. Most significance to them, the U-2 photography indicated that
these sites formed the outline of a trapezoid. This suggested that the sites

54. Mary S. McAuliffe (editor). CIA documents on the Cuban Missile Crisis, 1962, CIA
History Staff, October 1992.
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were forming a “point defense” to protect some extremely important
weapons emplacements. This deployment pattern was similar to those
identified near ballistic missile launch sites in the Soviet Union. The
stationing of these SA-2’s, together with human-source reporting of
missiles in western Cuba, strongly suggested that there were offensive
Soviet missiles to be found within the San Cristébal trapezoid. This led
DIA to establish requirements for reconnaissance of the San Cristobal
area.” (It later became apparent that the Soviets deployed their SA-2
sites around the entire periphery of the island and not particularly close
to the MRBM and IRBM sites; the SAMs were clearly meant for an
island-wide, not a point defense.)

CIA pressed for U-2 reconnaissance of the areas identified by the
agent and interrogation reports. But the Agency was concerned that
overflights might not be approved by the White House. (CIA had pre-
sented a plan for extensive U-2 coverage of the island at a White House
meeting on 10 September. Secretary of State Rusk objected to CIA’s plan
such that the plan that was approved provided much less coverage than
what CIA had requested. There were also indications that CIA’s future
requests would be met with resistance.) This led the Agency to avoid
having only CIA fingerprints on the intelligence concerning suspect
missile sites since it worried about it being discounted as the product
of an overly aggressive Agency. Consequently, in late September, Col.
Wright, DIA’s analyst and head of the MONGOOSE component at DIA,
was invited to a briefing at CIA. Based on the coordinates provided by
the MONGOOSE agent, CIA officers had marked off a Trapezoid-shaped
area and they asked Wright to push a request for U-2 surveillance up his
chain of command. Samuel Halpern, Executive Officer of Task Force
W (the organization responsible for Agency MONGOOSE operations)
recalled that the maneuver got CIA out of the line of fire and let DIA
take the lead. The downside was if the U-2 found anything, DIA would

55. John T. Hughes with A. Denis Clift. “The San Cristobal Trapezoid,” Studies in Intel-
ligence, 1992; Michael B. Petersen, Legacy of Ashes, Trial by Fire: The Origins of the
Defense Intelligence Agency and the Cuban Missile Crisis Crucible. DIA Historical
Research Support Branch, published 2011. Attps:/permanent.fdlp.gov/gpo71563/DIA
_Historical Perspectivesl.pdf
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get the credit for having astutely assembled the crucial intelligence.>

According to Roger Hilsman, Col. Wright and Navy Captain
Charles R. Clark were later credited with suggesting that the San Cris-
tobal-Guanajay arca was a likely missile site.”” Max Holland noted that
DIA Director Lt. General Joseph Carroll, USAF, was taking the lion’s
share of the credit for piecing together the intelligence that prompted
the 14 October flight. Carroll presented the discovery of the Soviet
missiles as a seamless example of intelligence collection and analysis.*

(The attentive reader will no doubt notice the two versions of how
the suspect site was targeted for coverage by the U-2: one by DIA’s Col.
Wright, who, based on the configuration of SA-2 sites, sent the recom-
mendation up his chain of command; the other that CIA had figured out
the location to be targeted and used Wright to push it forward thinking
that it would more likely be favorably considered than if CIA pushed it.)

Well before the Cuban Missile Crisis CIA had been flying the U-2
over Cuba gathering intelligence. Those flights had begun in 1960 as
CIA was preparing for the counterrevolutionary (Bay of Pigs) invasion
of Cuba. To support the effort, the Agency asked the National Security
Council Special Group to approve U-2 overflights of Cuba. Known as
Operation Kick Off, these flights were designed to obtain intelligence
on Cuban air and ground order of battle and for choosing an invasion
site. The authorization was given and the Agency conducted several
overflights in the latter months of 1960.

Overflights of Cuba continued under the new Kennedy administra-
tion with two missions in March of 1961 to aid final preparations for
the Bay of Pigs operation. Beginning in early April, numerous mis-
sions were flown to provide coverage of the ill-fated invasion and its
aftermath. Cuba remained a high priority target even after the Bay of
Pigs, with CIA flying monthly missions. By the spring of 1962, having
received reports of increased Soviet activity in Cuba, CIA requested and
was granted permission by the White House Special Group to increase

56. David M. Barrett and Max Holland. Blind Over Cuba; The Photo Gap and the Missile
Crisis, College Station, Texas: Texas A&M University Press, 2012.

57. Hilsman, p. 45.

58. Barrett and Holland. Blind Over Cuba, p. 94.
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Cuban overflights to at least two per month beginning in May 1962.

By early August, CIA analysts had noted a substantial increase in
Soviet military deliveries to Cuba during the preceding weeks. Missions
were flown on 5 and 29 August, the latter having been postponed from
8 August due to bad weather. The flight of 29 August provided the first
hard evidence of the nature of the Soviet buildup—the discovery of
SA-2 surface-to-air missile sites in the western part of the island. The
next overflight on 5 September showed more SA-2 sites.

The discovery of the SA-2 sites made the administration far more
cautious when considering Cuban overflights. The shooting down of
Francis Gary Powers’ U-2 by an SA-2 on 1 May 1960 was fresh on the
minds of administration leaders. Concern that a loss of a U-2 over Cuba
would cause a major diplomatic crisis was increased by two incidents
in other parts of the world: On 8 September 1962 a U-2 flown by a
Nationalist Chinese pilot was shot down over the Peoples Republic of
China. And on 30 August 1962 a Strategic Air Command (SAC) U-2
on an air sampling peripheral mission mistakenly overflew Sakhalin
Island.* Khrushchev would later refer to this intrusion in his message
to President Kennedy of 28 October 1962: ... During your term of office
as President, a second case [the Powers 1 May 1960 U-2 flight being the
first case] of violation of our frontier by an American U-2 aircraft has
taken place in the Sakhalin area. We informed you of this violation on
30 August. You then replied that this violation had occurred as a result
of bad weather and you gave assurances that it would not be repeated.”

(Another errant U-2 flight has received little historical interest
despite its having occurred at a critical time in the crisis. In the early
afternoon of Saturday, 27 October, news arrived in Washington that a
U-2 on a mission to collect air samples from Soviet nuclear tests near
the North Pole had gotten lost near Alaska. Expressing sharp alarm
about the danger of war, McNamara left the Pentagon briefly to talk to
Rusk. They learned that, as a result of navigation difficulties, the U-2

59. Garthoft in Reflections, pg. 28, and Brugioni, pg. 108, correctly refer to the Sakhalin
intrusion of 30 August, while Hilsman, p. 35, and a CIA MFR cite 7 September as the date
of the incursion. See Memorandum for the Record, Subject: Notes on Factors Bearing on
Reconnaissance of Cuba dated 28 October, 1962, unknown author, CIA files.
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had gone off course into Soviet air space. Soviet MiG fighters had tried
to intercept the aircraft. Then U.S. fighters based in Alaska had been
sent aloft to protect the U-2 as it reentered U.S. airspace. In his mes-
sage to Kennedy on 28 October Khrushchev refers to this incident; “An
even more dangerous case [the earlier case being the 30 August one]
occurred on 28 October, [27 October in the U.S.] when your reconnais-
sance aircraft invaded the northern area of the Soviet Union, in the area
of the Chukotski Peninsula, and flew over our territory.”® In Kennedy’s
message to Khrushchev of 28 October he says “You referred in your
letter to a violation of your frontier by an American aircraft in the area
of the Chukotsk [sic] Peninsula. | have learned that this plane, with-
out arms or photographic equipment, was engaged in an air sampling
mission in connection with your nuclear tests. Its course was direct
from Eielson Air Force Base in Alaska to the North Pole and return.
In turning south, the pilot made a serious error which carried him over
Soviet territory. He immediately made an emergency call on open radio
for navigational assistance and was guided back to his home base by
the most direct route. | regret this incident and will see to it that every
precaution is taken to prevent recurrence.)”" ¢

These concerns (the U-2 loss over China and the Sakhalin Island
violation) led to an impromptu 10 September meeting of Secretary
of State Rusk, National Security Advisor Bundy, and DDCI Carter
(McCone was in France on his honeymoon). CIA’s plan for extended
overflights of areas of Cuba not covered by the last two missions were
objected to by Rusk and Bundy, and with the acquiescence of Carter,
the Agency’s plan was revised to greatly reduce the vulnerability of
the U-2, but in so doing the collection of photographic intelligence was
also greatly reduced.

60. Ronald R. Pope (editor and commentator). “Soviet Views on the Cuban Missile Crisis;
Myth and Reality,” Foreign Policy Analysis, Lanham, Md and London; University Press of
America, 1982, p. 62.
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Roger Hilsman defended the 10 September meeting decision after
McCone instituted a study to determine if the missiles would have been
discovered sooner if the Secretary of State had not suggested substitut-
ing peripheral flights for the CIA’s planned flights. Hilsman said it was
not difficult to show, first, that any delay caused by making four flights
instead of one was negligible; second that the risk of a U-2 being lost
and an international crisis that would make it difficult to continue having
any U-2 flights at all was real; and third, that there had never been a
turndown of any flight that the intelligence community had proposed,
but that on the contrary both the White House and the State Department
had actually pushed for more intelligence all along.®

Caribbean weather proved to be a major problem during the month
of September. Together with the cautiously-designed mission plans, the
September flights turned up many more SAM sites but no concrete evi-
dence of surface-to-surface missiles. DCI McCone upon his return from
his European trip learned of the paucity of Cuban coverage. Frustrated
with the restrictions that had been placed on U-2 Cuban overflights, he
questioned the Special Group on 4 October whether their policy of using
the U-2 only in Cuba’s southeastern quadrant was a reasonable restric-
tion, particularly since the SAM’s were almost certainly not operational.
The Special Group then requested that the National Reconnaissance
Office (NRO) prepare an overall plan for Cuban reconnaissance for its
next meeting on 9 October.*

The conclusion from the Special National Intelligence Estimate of
19 September that offensive missiles were unlikely to be found in Cuba
may have contributed to a lack of urgency by U.S. officials. But it is also
reasonable to conclude, as Hilsman does, that there might have been a
greater sense of urgency to continue full coverage of Cuba if the overall
judgment had been that the Soviets probably would put missiles in Cuba

63. Hilsman, pp. 56-7.

64. Hilsman is incorrect when he writes on p. 60 that there was a decision at the 4 October
meeting to fly again over western Cuba. In fact, the decision coming out of the 4 October
meeting was to develop a reconnaissance plan to be considered at the next meeting on 9
October. The National Reconnaissance Office was the joint CIA-DOD covert organization
for operating reconnaissance satellites and reconnaissance aircraft established in August
1960. Its existence was declassified in 1992.
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rather than not. Even so, he says, as a practical matter, the difference at
most would probably have been no more than a few days.*

In response to the Special Group action levied at the 4 October
meeting, the Committee on Overhead Reconnaissance (COMOR)®
on 6 October provided a memorandum to the NRO citing the need
for renewed coverage of western Cuba. It included the statement that
“Ground observers have, in recent instances, reported sightings of what
they believe to be Soviet MRBM’s in Cuba. These reports must be
confirmed or denied by photo coverage.” Attached to the memorandum
was a list of targets, with the area around San Cristdbal at the top.®

On 9 October the Special Group discussed COMOR’s recommen-
dations, the most important of which was to cover the suspect MRBM
site. The mission was also designed to pass over one of the SA-2 sites
that was thought to be most nearly operational in order to determine the
status of SA-2 defenses of Cuba. The danger posed by overflying the
SA-2 site was an obvious concern of the Special Group which McCone
addressed; a CIA expert on the U-2’s vulnerability gave his estimate
of the loss of a U-2 over Cuba at 1 in 6. The Special Group approved
the recommended mission.

The Agency’s cover story for its missions over Cuba had been that
its pilots were Lockheed employees on ferry flights to Puerto Rico. DOD
and the Air Force though it would be better to use Air Force pilots, and
that in the event of a mishap, that the overflight was a routine Air Force
peripheral mission that had gone off course. The CIA expert agreed
but noted that SAC’s U-2s were much more vulnerable than the CIA’s
because the Agency’s had more powerful engines and thus a higher
altitude capability. McCone and Gilpatric met with President Kennedy
after the 9 October meeting at which time Kennedy approved the use
of Air Force pilots.

While the President had approved using Air Force pilots, there were
still issues associated with the transfer of responsibility, specifically

65. Hilsman, p. 61.
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who, the CIA or the Air Force (really the Strategic Air Command—
SAC) should fly the upcoming mission. The DOD strongly favored the
Air Force and gained McCone’s consent. Air Force control became
official on 12 October when Kennedy transferred “responsibility, to
include command and control and operational decisions, with regard to
U-2 reconnaissance of Cuba” from CIA to the Department of Defense.

Acting DCI Carter (McCone was in California for the funeral of
his wife’s son) reacted strongly to the Air Force takeover, and argued
against changing command and control at such a crucial time. He told
Gilpatric “To put in a brand-new green pilot just because he happens to
have on a blue suit and to completely disrupt the command and control
and communication and ground support system on 72 hours’ notice
to me doesn’t make a God damn bit of sense, Mr. Secretary.” Carter’s
efforts were in vain. The Air Force insisted on immediate control of
the operation and administration officials were unwilling to become
involved.

Carter was clearly disappointed and concerned over the abruptness
of the change and he told McCone that the immediate turnover was “a
hell of a way to run a railroad.” McCone then told Carter: “If that’s the
way they’re going to run the railroad, let them run the goddamn thing.”s

Once the decision was made, the Agency’s U-2 detachment at
Edwards Air Force Base supervised the training of Air Force pilots in
the CIA version of the U-2, the U-2C. And on 13 October the CIA’s
Edwards detachment deployed to McCoy Air Force Base, Florida, near
Orlando, to support SAC as instructed by an Agency official: “Continue
to regard yourself as being under SAC control.” And later: “You are
urged to support SAC fully in the manner you have done so well these
past few days.”®

By 14 October the weather over Cuba had cleared (it was unfavor-
able on 10, 11, and 12 October while SAC pilots were being trained)
and the first SAC overflight of the island took place in a U-2C that SAC

68. Robarge history of McCone, p. 110.
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had “borrowed” from the Agency.”” Major Richard Heyser departed
Edwards Air Force Base and flew the mission that had been planned
by CIA. After landing at McCoy, the film from the historic mission
was rushed to NPIC for interpretation. By the evening of 15 October,
experts had found evidence of MRBM'’s in the San Cristobal area.”
Senior officials were immediately notified and on 16 October, DDCI
Carter briefed the President.”

Much has been written about the gap in U-2 photographic mis-
sions between 5 September and the eventful one of 14 October when
Soviet MRBM’s were discovered.” Often cited as one of the reasons
for the gap was a supposed dispute between CIA and the Air Force
over control of U-2 Cuban missions. McGeorge Bundy’s 1988 memoir
attributed the gap to an unworthy squabble between CIA and the Air
Force.” A Newsweek article of 4 March 1963 read in part: “Though he
[Bundy]...will not discuss the matter, there is firm basis to credit him
with breaking a deadlock in a dispute between CIA and the Strategic
Air Command as to which Agency would conduct U-2 flights over Cuba.
According to this account, it was that dispute—not bad weather—that
left a gap of some two weeks in the U.S. overflights...”” In fact, there
was no delay caused by a “dispute.” CIA not only accepted but facili-
tated the transfer of responsibility and that included expedited training
of Air Force pilots.
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Much of the photo gap can be attributed to weather where cloud
cover over Cuba in September and October precluded useful photog-
raphy by the CIA BRASS KNOB U-2 flights much of the time. Still,
the timidity of senior U.S officials Bundy and Rusk who feared the
consequences if a U-2 were to be shot down has received the criticism.
In Eyeball to Eyeball, Brugioni noted “it wasn’t the weather, but rather
the dereliction, bumbling, and intransigence of Rusk and Bundy.”?

According to Max Holland the Kennedy White House had not
wanted the issue of a photo gap to be known for it would damage the
image of its masterful crisis management. It promulgated the idea that
no request for photographic coverage was ever denied by the White
House. While technically true, it was disingenuous; COMOR represen-
tatives had resisted submitting requests for U-2 coverage after being
told, in effect, they would not be approved. Indeed, the president could
technically claim (and on his behalf, Bundy did) that he approved every
overflight request.”

Have You Found the Nuclear Warheads?

President Kennedy often asked McCone and NPIC chief Arthur
Lundahl that question. The answer was always no, but today, thanks
to retrospective research, after-action reports and statements by former
Soviet officials, we know there were nuclear weapons in Cuba, where
they were located, when they arrived in Cuba and when they were with-
drawn. While direct evidence concerning the presence of warheads has
never been found, and given the limitations of overhead photography
and Soviet security measures, probably could not have been, there is
now little question that the USSR did have a nuclear capability in Cuba.

Virtually all evidence concerning possible nuclear weapons in Cuba
came from overhead photography, first from the U-2, and beginning
on 23 October, from low-level, unarmed Navy supersonic jets under a
secret operation codenamed Blue Moon, and a little later by U.S. Air

76. Brugioni, p. 132.
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Force low-level reconnaissance aircraft.’

After the Cuban Missile Crisis, CIA’s Office of Research and
Reports (ORR) conducted a study to review the evidence concerning
the nature, scope, and timing of the Soviet buildup in Cuba in 1962.
The study was published in February 1964, but not declassified and
released until 2017. This retrospective study provides an accounting of
what U.S. intelligence knew at the time.” What follows is information
from that study concerning possible nuclear weapons in Cuba.

The precise degree of combat readiness of the 24 MRBM launch
positions in Cuba at the time of the crisis cannot be determined from
available evidence, even in retrospect. The principal uncertainty
concerns the presence or absence of nuclear warheads; the evidence
on this aspect of the buildup is so ambiguous and inconclusive that
it is not possible to reach a judgment based on factual information.
It cannot be demonstrated from available evidence that the USSR
had delivered nuclear warheads to Cuba by the time of the U.S.
quarantine. If they had not been delivered, then the USSR probably
had no capability whatever during the crisis to attack the U.S. by
missiles fired from Cuba, for it is highly unlikely that the USSR
would have provided conventional, high-explosive warheads for the
MRBM’s. On the other hand, the evidence indicates that much of
the equipment believed to be necessary for the handling and on-site
transportation of MRBM warheads and nosecones was present and
that permanent facilities almost certainly intended for the storage
of nuclear warheads were being constructed at both the MRBM
and the IRBM sites. Although a thorough effort failed to uncover
direct evidence concerning the presence of warheads, there is no
assurance that they could have been detected by photography or
other means; hence there is also no basis in evidence for concluding
that the USSR did not have a nuclear capability in Cuba.

There are three bodies of evidence, all ambiguous and incon-
clusive, that may relate to the presence of nuclear warheads. The
first of these concerns the equipment and facilities required for their
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handling and storage. At five of the six MRBM sites, as well as at
the Mariel Naval Air Station, special purpose units were observed in
photography which, because of their unique equipment and physi-
cal positioning, have been identified as probable missile nosecone
handling units. In general, the equipment included: eight large vans
that seemed appropriate for nosecone handling; a truck-mounted
crane; and an undetermined number of dollies that appear suitable
for nosecone handling and generally corresponded to descriptions
of such equipment found in Soviet documents.

At the missile sites the special purpose units referred to above
generally were located in an area by themselves, just as the propel-
lant vehicles were in separate areas, indicating a special function.
In some cases, they were positioned in close proximity to the arch-
roofed, probable nuclear weapons facilities.

Itis known from Soviet documents that nosecones and warheads
normally are stored separately from the missiles for which they are
intended. When an increased state of readiness is ordered, the nosec-
ones with warheads are transported to the missile-ready facility for
mating to the missile. In Cuba the MRBM nosecones probably were
stored in the vans of the nosecone handling unit and would have
been transported to the missile-ready tents in these vans. The pres-
ence of the vans, however, provides no assurance of the presence
of warheads. No vans were observed in the immediate vicinity of
missile-ready tents at any of the Cuban MRBM sites, and, for that
matter, none of the missiles observed on their transporters was of
sufficient length to have had nosecones (with or without warheads)
attached. The only activity of the nosecone handling units at the
MRBM sites that may have been indicative of some nosecone/
warhead checkout consisted of a single instance of a van at one
of the San Crist6bal sites being loaded or unloaded, but the cargo
cannot be identified. Otherwise, little or no activity was observed.

It is likely that nuclear warheads would have been delivered to
Cuba in specially hermetically sealed containers. About two dozen
such containers were observed in photography of a special unit
located at Mariel Naval Air Station throughout the period 15 Octo-
ber-10 November. These containers were located in a separately
secured area at the end of the runway, together with a number of
nosecone dollies and 12 or more probable nosecone vans. Although
the unit at the Mariel Naval Air Station appears to have performed
some unique function, there is no way of determining from the
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available evidence whether its activity concerned MRBM nosec-
ones or warheads. If warheads were in Cuba, this unit may have
served as a receiving and initial checkout point through which they
were transshipped to the sites. It must be noted, however, that the
facilities at Mariel were of a field type and rudimentary. Although
they might have sufficed for a temporary receiving facility, their
appearance seems somewhat out of keeping with the stringent pro-
cedures and precautions that normally surround Soviet handling of
nuclear weapons, especially in view of the general availability of
more appropriate facilities in Cuba.

In addition to the nosecone handling units and their special
equipment, each MRBM site was evidently to have its own arch-
roofed nuclear warhead bunker. The size of these bunkers suggests
that they were intended for more than just storage of the warheads;
probably warhead checkout and maintenance also would have been
performed in these facilities. By 28 October it is unlikely that any
of the bunkers had equipment installed or were actually in use.
If warheads were present and operational at the MRBM sites,
therefore, they must have been maintained and stored elsewhere,
presumably in vans.

Bunkers were also present near the IRBM sites at Guanajay
and Remedios. It is curious that both of the IRBM bunkers were
virtually complete by 28 October, in contrast to those at the MRBM
sites, even though the IRBM missiles had not yet arrived, whereas
MRBM’s had been arriving on site for well over a month. Because
warheads for both systems are controlled by the same Soviet author-
ity, it is possible that both MRBM and IRBM warheads were to be
delivered to Cuba in a single shipment after completion of all of
the storage and checkout facilities, which was not planned to occur
until some time in November.

Asecond body of evidence that may be pertinent to the presence
of nuclear warheads in Cuba concerns the voyage of the Soviet
ship Aleksandrovsk. Although any shipment of military cargo to
Cuba during the buildup period could have included nuclear war-
heads, the Aleksandrovsk is suspected of having had some special
cargo aboard, possibly nuclear warheads, because it was the only
ship that departed from and returned to a Soviet Arctic naval port
during the entire Cuban buildup. On 3 October the Aleksandrovsk
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was photographed at the Arctic port of Guba Okol’naya,* a part of
the naval complex in the Severomorsk area that serves submarines
and surface craft of the Northern Fleet. The Aleksandrovsk is the
first merchant vessel known to have called at this port. After the
quarantine was imposed the Aleksandrovsk probably remained at
La Isabella for about a week, following which the vessel sailed to
Mariel. The reason for the unique voyages of the Aleksandrovsk is
not readily apparent. It can be hypothesized that the use of Guba
Okol’naya enabled the vessel to reach Cuba and return with an
unusually sensitive cargo, such as nuclear warheads, without risking
surveillance in narrow waters under Western control, such as the
passages from the Baltic or Black Seas. If this is a correct explana-
tion for the voyage of the Aleksandrovsk, it must have been the first
delivery of warheads to Cuba, for most all other known voyages
transited the Baltic or Black Seas.

The Aleksandrovsk was one of the first Soviet ships to depart
Cuba, leaving Mariel with a deck cargo of nosecone vans on 5
November and arriving at Guba Okol’naya in late November.

The ClA analysts that reviewed what we knew was going on in
Cuba regarding nuclear matters during the crisis found the activities
of the Aleksandrovsk quite mysterious and their analysis of its role
was inconclusive. They determined that Guba Okol’naya and the
Aleksandrovsk may have no nuclear significance whatever.

The only other evidence bearing on nuclear warheads consists
of'the statements of Soviet officials on the subject. On 8§ November,
Deputy Foreign Minister Kuznetsov stated to Ambassador Steven-
son that nuclear warheads had been taken out of Cuba “immedi-
ately” after the decision was made to remove the missiles. Two days
earlier, however, Kuznetsov had indicated that the warheads would
be removed if warheads are indeed in Cuba. On 12 November,
Khrushchev twice stated to British Ambassador Roberts that nuclear
warheads had been removed from Cuba. Although the November
assertions regarding nuclear warheads may well have been true,
they cannot be taken at face value. The Soviet authorities probably

80. The 3 October photographs of the Aleksandrovsk did not reach Washington until Janu-
ary 3, 1963. The photographs of this highly significant ship were taken by the U.S. Navy
but were apparently misplaced only to be discovered later. See Dwayne Anderson, “On the
Trail of the Alexandrovsk [sicl,” Studies in Intelligence, Winter 1966.
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judged that they would not be compelled to demonstrate the removal
of nuclear warheads as they would be compelled to demonstrate
the removal of the missiles. Hence statements that warheads were
not present in Cuba, even if true, probably would not have served
the Soviet purpose at the time, which was to reassure the U.S. that
the offensive weapons were being withdrawn. Once the crisis was
past, the Soviet authorities could hardly be expected to admit that
warheads had not reached Cuba, had that been the case.

Since publication of the CIA ORR study much additional informa-
tion has surfaced. At a January 1989 conference in Moscow,* Soviet
General Dmitry Volkogonov, head of the Soviet Ministry of Defense
Institute of Military History, said twenty nuclear warheads had arrived
in Cuba in late September or early October, and twenty others were
in transit aboard the Poltava® when the quarantine went into effect.
According to Volkogonov, the warheads that had arrived in Cuba were
kept “well away” from the missiles themselves, and at no time were
measures taken to mate them, even when alerts were raised following
President Kennedy’s speech of 22 October. At the same conference
Sergei Khrushchev, son of Nikita Khrushchey, claimed “My father
would not have allowed [the warheads] to be mounted. He felt that
would have made it easier for a madman to start a war.”

According to Admiral Gribkov writing in Operation Anadyr, the
atomic warheads for the MRBM’s had arrived in Mariel on 4 October
onboard the freighter Indigirka from the Barents Sea military port of
Severomorsk. The KGB troops on that ship, itself specially armed for the
perilous trip, were also guarding eighty cruise missile (FKR) warheads,
six bombs for the IL-28’s and a dozen atomic charges for the “Luna”
rockets. Separately, another ship, the Alexandrovsk [the Aleksandrovsk]
carried the twenty-four warheads for the IRBM missiles. These stayed

81. There have been a number of ex post facto conferences about the crisis. See the listing
in the vignettes.

82. This is the only known reference connecting the Poltava to nuclear warheads; it is
never mentioned by other Soviet officials.

83. Bruce J. Allyn, James G. Blight, and David A. Welch. “Essence of Revision; Moscow,
Havana, and the Cuban Missile Crisis,” International Security, Vol. 14, No. 3, Winter
1989-1990, p. 154.
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in the vessel’s hold in the port of La Isabela, waiting for missiles that
never arrived.*

The MRBM warheads had gone into bunkers in Bejucal, about
thirteen miles south of Havana and—by road—not much more than
fifty miles from the three MRBM missile regiments deployed near
San Cristobal. This central nuclear depot in Bejucal was also the stor-
age site for forty warheads for the FKR detachment about forty miles
away, west of Mariel, and for the twelve warheads for the “Luna” rocket
units. Other atomic weapons—the six bombs for the IL-28’s and the
forty warheads for the second cruise missile detachment—had been
placed in well-guarded depots closer to either the bombers airfield in
the central portion of the island, or to the cruise missile units in the
hills above the U.S. base at Guantanamo Bay.®

Soviet Col. Nikolai Beloborodov was responsible for the storage
of all nuclear munitions on Cuba, including those at the main depot at
Bejucal. He was also safeguarding forty FKR warheads assigned, but
not yet deployed to rockets and launchers in eastern Cuba and the six
atomic bombs for the IL-28’s. Gribkov notes that none of the “cargoes”
(the Soviet term for atomic weapons) under Beloborodov’s control
had been released by 22 October to other commanders, nor were they
released at any time during the crisis.®

We now know that nuclear weapons were indeed in Cuba, but con-
fidence in such a conclusion had not always been the case. Writing in
Reflections on the Cuban Missile Crisis in 1989, Raymond L. Garthoff
explains the uncertainty about nuclear weapons when he discusses U.S.
and Soviet negotiations on removal of nuclear weapons at the conclusion
of the crisis.®” The U.S. had informed Soviet negotiators in early Novem-
ber that “warheads” for missiles and bombers were to be withdrawn
along with the missiles. Vasily Kuznetsov, the Soviet negotiator, had said

84. General Anatoli I. Gribkov and General William Y. Smith (USAF). Operation Anadyr;
U.S. and Soviet General’s Recount of the Cuban Missile Crisis, Chicago: Edition q, 1994,
pp. 45-6.

85. Ibid, p. 45-6.

86. Ibid, p. 62-3.

87. Raymond L. Garthoff. Reflections on the Cuban Missile Crisis, Washington, D.C.: The
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on 6 November 1962 that the question of removal of warheads was “a
detail,” that without doubt warheads would be removed “if indeed any
warheads are in Cuba.” On 18 November he informed the U.S. that “he
was now authorized to say that no nuclear weapons whatsoever were
any longer on the territory of Cuba,” and that the Soviet government
reaffirmed that “all nuclear weapons had been removed and that they
were not going to reintroduce them.”

Garthoff continues: “Assuming that the recent Soviet acknowledg-
ment that some of the nuclear missile warheads had been in Cuba is
correct, the record of Soviet statements in November 1962 is entirely
consistent with the known facts.” “While couched in terms that implied
there had been warheads in Cuba, the Soviet purpose was to reassure
the United States—which had raised the issue as though warheads were
there. Thus, even if no warheads had ever reached Cuba, the Soviets
would not have wanted to stimulate American suspicions or a new issue
by stating so. For its part the United States did not want to admit that it
did not know if there were any nuclear warheads in Cuba.” “It did not
wish to acknowledge doubt as to the presence of nuclear warheads and
possibly stimulate any Soviet temptation to conceal and keep in Cuba
any warheads it might have there.” “The result was agreement that any
[nuclear] warheads for the missiles and bombs were being returned.
Although American intelligence did not conclusively detect the return
of any nuclear warheads to the Soviet Union, that very fact tended
(except for the most suspicious) to confirm the estimate that none had
been there. That judgment may have been in error.” “Assuming nuclear
warheads had been there, the available evidence tends to corroborate
the Soviet account of their removal.”s

Brugioni in Eyeball to Eyeball claims that statements made during
and after the crisis that nuclear weapons were never seen in Cuba
simply weren’t true. Here he makes the distinction between “seeing”
and “discovering.” He claims they weren’t discovered until reviewing
aerial photography after the crisis that had been acquired during the
crisis. He also claims that this same post-crisis review made it obvious
that the Soviets had fueled and mated the warheads and had practiced

88. Ibid, pp. 115-6.
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moving the missiles to the erectors. He cites photography of October
23 of the Sagua la Grande MRBM site no.1. showing missile fueling,
check-out, generator, and water vans positioned and connected to a
missile inside the missile-ready tents. Brugioni then makes a leap not
supported by the available evidence: “It must be presumed that the
warhead was also mated to the missile.”®

U.S. intelligence had not seen actual nuclear warheads for the
missiles or a nuclear bomb for the I1L-28’s, but it had accumulated
numerous indicators of nuclear weapons in the form of “signatures”
that resembled those of nuclear facilities and equipment that NPIC
had seen in the USSR. At each of the MRBM and IRBM miissile sites
photo interpreters found either nuclear warhead storage bunkers or
construction activity indicating they were being planned. Overhead
reconnaissance also revealed the presence of four to eight vans at each
of the bunkers that photo interpreters labeled unidentified meaning
their purpose was unknown. But as noted by Brugioni, no particular
attention was paid to the vans that were always parked near the bunkers,
apparently because there was no special security fencing near them.
One of the features of nuclear installations in the Soviet Union was a
series of heavily guarded security fences, and it was believed that KGB
security officers would exercise even more caution and physical security
when nuclear weapons were deployed to Cuba. In its search for nuclear
weapons indicators, NPIC photo interpreters looked for, but curiously
didn’t find such indicators.

The Aleksandrovsk had arrived in Cuba at the port of La Isabela
shortly before the quarantine took effect. It remained at La Isabela until
28 October when it hurried to the port of Mariel. Interestingly, the first
objects to arrive at the port of Mariel from the dismantled launch sites
were not the missiles themselves but rather the “unidentified” vans. A
number of vans were loaded aboard the Aleksandrovsk which departed
the port immediately. According to Brugioni, the rapid movement
and transshipment of the vans in the port revealed their real purpose:
They were nuclear warhead storage vans. Brugioni continued: Further
postmortem reviews of all previous photography over Cuba revealed

89. Brugioni, pp. 547-8.
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that, indeed, the nuclear warheads were stored in the “unidentified”
vans. (Subsequent to the crisis, the same type vans were seen not only
at nuclear weapons storage areas within the Soviet Union but also at
Soviet nuclear weapons storage areas in East European countries.) The
secret of the Russian handling of nuclear warheads for the missiles was
uncovered at the Mariel Naval Air Station where the short runway had
fallen into disuse and disrepair. Photo coverage of 14 October revealed
that a nuclear warhead processing facility had been sited at the western
end of the runway. It was postulated that the warheads arrived at the
port of Mariel and were carried to the runway facility in coffin-shaped
nosecone containers. Measurements of the equipment by photogram-
metrists showed the size was compatible with the size of SS-4 nose
cones that had been seen in Moscow parade photography. None of the
coffin-shaped containers remained at the Mariel facility after the Alek-
sandrovsk left. Also seen at Mariel were uniquely configured dollies
for handling nuclear warheads.®

What U.S. intelligence had not discovered in Cuba was the central
nuclear weapon storage facility. The CIA had concluded that the nuclear
warheads were probably stored near the port of Mariel. As noted earlier,
Gribkov had identified Bejucal as the site of such a facility, but U.S.
intelligence never identified it as such in overhead photography even
though low-level American reconnaissance airplanes had flown over the
area on numerous missions beginning on 23 October. Decades would
pass before an analysis of archival film of Bejucal by Michael Dobbs
revealed that the purpose of a facility that had been photographed many
times was nuclear weapons storage. The proof was in the photographs
that showed special nuclear transport vans parked at the facility.

Dobbs writes that the CIA had been scouring Cuba for nuclear
warheads ever since discovering the missiles. “In fact, they were hidden
in plain view all along.” Analysts had been following construction
activity at Bejucal and by the fall of 1962 had tagged a pair of Beju-
cal bunkers as a possible “nuclear weapons storage site.” But analysts
were not convinced because the facility lacked the extra security that
had been observed at nuclear storage facilities in the USSR. Dobbs’s

90. Brugioni, pp. 538-48.
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analysis of archival film revealed the locations of the Bejucal nuclear
storage bunker and a similar bunker, dug into a hill overlooking the
town of Managua. Dobbs concludes that the Bejucal bunker was the
hiding place of the thirty-six warheads for the MRBM missile; Mana-
gua was the storage point for the twelve Luna warheads (warheads for
the IRBM’s were stored on the Aleksandrovsk awaiting the arrival of
the missiles). Photo interpreters missed the significance of the Bejucal
facility because they had been told to look for multiple security fences,
roadblocks, and extra levels of protection. At the Bejucal facility all
that they saw was a rickety fence which was not even protected by a
closed gate. Dobbs explains this mindset as the tyranny of conventional
wisdom. The lack of obvious security precautions around the Bejucal
site was the best security of all.”

Secretary of Defense McNamara gave a special Cuban briefing
on 6 February 1963 where he was asked by a reporter about atomic
weapons in Cuba. McNamara answered, “The movement of nuclear
weapons into Cuba, | believe, occurred. | believe we observed it in
certain vehicles and we observed the movement of those vehicles out
of Cuba, and we traced the shipment of those vehicles on ships back
into the home waters of the Soviet Union.”®?

The National Security Archive at George Washington University
maintains an impressive collection of declassified documents on the
Cuban Missile Crisis. According to some of those documents, Soviet
nuclear warheads stayed on Cuban territory for 59 days—from the
arrival of the ship Indigirka on 4 October to the departure of Arkhan-
gelsk on December 1. Arkhangelsk carried 80 warheads for the FKR
cruise missile, 12 warheads for the Luna launcher, and 6 nuclear bombs
for the IL-28 bombers—in total, 98 tactical nuclear warheads. Four
other nuclear warheads, for torpedoes on the Foxtrot submarines, had
already returned to the Soviet Union, as well as 24 warheads for the R-14
(IRBM) missiles, which arrived on 25 October on the Aleksandrovsk
but were never unloaded. The available evidence suggests that the 36
warheads for the MRBM missiles came to Cuba on the /ndigirka and

91. Dobbs, One Minute to Midnight, pp. 174-5.
92. Brugioni, p. 547.
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that they left on the Aleksandrovsk, being loaded at Mariel between 30
October and 3 November.®

Two documents from the National Security Archive are particularly
interesting in the context of nuclear weapons in Cuba. Document 1 is an
after-action report written in December 1962 by Soviet Major-General
Igor Statsenko, the commander of the MRBM and IRBM regiments
and supporting personnel. In his report he describes the movement of
“warheads” to field deployment areas. Document 2 is the report written
by Soviet Lieutenant General Nikolai Beloborodov who commanded
the Soviet nuclear arsenal in Cuba. It describes the delivery, deploy-
ment and withdrawal of all nuclear weapons, the “special cargo” as the
Soviets referred to them, which were under his command.®

Do the Russians Know?

Between the discovery of MRBM missiles on 15 October (from
the U-2 flight of 14 October) and President Kennedy’s announcement
on the 22nd, those few U.S. officials who knew wondered whether the
Soviets knew of the U.S. discovery. The secret of the missile discovery
had been extremely tightly held and special precautions had been taken
to avoid creating the appearance that something out of the ordinary was
happening in Washington. The U.S. had begun frequent U-2 flights
once the missiles were first discovered, but it had no way of knowing
if the Soviets were aware of the intensified U-2 coverage since the SA-2
search radars were not operating at the time (They began operating on
26 October).

The President learned of the missiles on Tuesday morning, 16
October, and was intent on preventing leaks and any indication that
the U.S. had discovered the Soviet missiles. Secrecy was paramount
and Kennedy would not disclose to anyone who lacked a rigid “need-
to-know” what the U-2 had discovered. On Wednesday morning, in
order to mask the discovery from the Russians, he flew to Connecti-

93. The National Security Archive: “Last Nuclear Weapons left Cuba in December 1962,”
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cut to keep a campaign commitment. Had the discovery been widely
known within the government, it would have leaked and had it leaked,
the administration’s diplomatic initiative, achieved by making a coun-
termove when unmasking Soviet duplicity, would have been lost. As it
turned out, this was perhaps the best kept secret in American history,
but only barely. By Saturday, 20 October, the New York Times had the
story, but a phone call from the president delayed the story until after
the White House announcement on 22 October.

On 18 October, President Kennedy met in the Oval Office with
Soviet Foreign Minister Gromyko, as planned. Kennedy didn’t know
whether the Soviet Foreign Minister knew about the missiles or whether
he knew that the Americans knew. Kennedy debated whether he should
confront the Soviet Foreign Minister with what the U.S. knew and finally
decided that as he had not yet determined a final course of action and
the disclosure of our knowledge might give the Russians the initiative,
he would simply listen to Gromyko. Gromyko told the President that
Khrushchev had told him to tell Kennedy that the only assistance being
furnished Cuba was for agriculture and land development, so the people
could feed themselves, plus a small amount of defensive arms. He said
that he wanted to emphasize that the Soviet Union would never become
involved in the furnishing of offensive weapons to Cuba. Brugioni wrote
that after the Gromyko meeting, he and Lundahl went into the Oval
Office to retrieve the briefing materials that NPIC had prepared for the
meeting but which the president had chosen not to reveal to Gromyko.*

Alexander Feklisov, alias Alexander Fomin, was one of the KGB’s
top agents in the U.S. and the KGB Rezident in Washington, D.C. from
1960 to 1964.% In his book The Man Behind the Rosenbergs, he writes
that Gromyko had to know, even though he wasn’t part of the Politburo.
On the other hand, Feklisov writes that Gromyko probably didn’t think
that the Americans had found out. Feklisov also writes that during a
ball in Gromyko’s honor at the State Department, ExComm was work-
ing just one floor below on two options: a blockade or a bombing raid

95. Kennedy, Thirteen Days, p. 31; Brugioni, pp. 286-7.
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of the island.

Feklisov, a 20-year veteran of Soviet intelligence had little success
in penetrating the power centers in D.C., but he did develop a number of
useful journalistic sources, one of whom was John Scali, the moderator
of ABC’s Issues and Answers program. (Feklisov and Scali developed
a communication backchannel between Moscow and Washington that
some credit with resolving the Cuban Missile Crisis.) (See Vignette.)

Soviet intelligence provided little warning of the impending crisis.
In the days immediately preceding Kennedy’s blockade speech, the
Soviets detected unusual activity but could not determine the exact
reason for it. Similarly, the GRU (Soviet military intelligence) dissemi-
nated worrisome but inexact signals of trouble ahead. As of 21 October,
the headquarters of the GRU had received four different reports sug-
gesting that Kennedy was considering some form of military action in
the Caribbean. Noting unusual activity by the U.S. Air Force, the GRU
reported on a convoy of military planes that had left for Puerto Rico. It
also appeared that the number of bombers on duty in the Strategic Air
Command had inexplicably increased. On the high seas, the Soviets
detected that the U.S. Navy had increased its presence in the Caribbean
as part of an exercise. The Soviet military picked up Robert McNamara’s
order that senior military officers remain near the Pentagon to participate
in a series of intensive meetings. Finally, there were indications that this
was only the beginning of some U.S. military operation.

Despite these indicators, the Soviet Presidium appears not to have
had any special advance warning of Kennedy’s speech to the nation
on Monday, 22 October. Berlin and Cuba were both on the agenda for
the scheduled Presidium meeting that day, indicating uncertainty over
which Cold War volcano might be about to blow.*

According to Feklisov, because of the security around ExComm
deliberations, Moscow didn’t know that Washington was aware of the
missiles. He says that all the excitement going on prior to the President’s
announcement affected only the highest councils of power. “None of

97. Fursenko and Naftali. “Soviet Intelligence and The Cuban Missile Crisis.” pp. 77-8, in
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our American agents in the State Department or elsewhere had noticed
anything out of the ordinary.” “By Sunday, 21 October, I knew there
was a crisis. During the afternoon Ambassador Dobrynin called an
urgent meeting where the military attaché said the U.S. military had
been placed on DEFCON 3. The American press gave no clue that a
conflict was in the offing. The next day [ was trying to find an American
contact who could help find out what was going on in the Oval Office.”

Moscow had received the text of Kennedy’s speech before it was
given. Khrushchev didn’t know until then that the Americans knew
everything and he became very angry. It wasn’t only against the quar-
antine, which he interpreted as an act of war: he was furious at the
Soviet generals for failing to hide the missiles properly. Khrushchev’s
initial reaction was to order the ships on their way to Cuba not to stop
and to send a very terse message to Kennedy.”

hat Should We Do with MONGOOSE?

On the morning of 16 October, the same morning that the President
was informed of the missiles, Robert Kennedy was holding a meeting
which he opened by expressing “general dissatisfaction of the President”
with Operation MONGOOSE. He pointed out that the operation had
been underway for a year, that the results were discouraging, that there
had been no acts of sabotage, and that even the one which had been
attempted had failed twice. While there had been noticeable improve-
ment during the year in the collection of intelligence, other actions
had failed to influence significantly the course of events in Cuba. The
Attorney General spoke favorably of the sabotage paper that General
Carter had presented that morning. In it the Acting DCI advocated a
series of demolition and other sabotage operations including “a hit-
and-run mortar and gunfire attack on the Soviet SAM site near Santa
Lucia, Pinar del Rio Province.” 10
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MONGOOSE was a large-scale covert action program. It was a
sustained campaign of sabotage, propaganda, espionage, and work
with resistance networks and exile groups to overthrow Castro. John
Kennedy had been disgusted with the disaster at the Bay of Pigs and
was more determined than ever to get rid of Castro. MONGOOSE was
set up in the fall of 1961 to overthrow Castro and was part-Pentagon,
part-CIA, run out of the White House with General Edward Lansdale
as the operational director, and the CIA element, Task Force W, run by
William Harvey. While Lansdale was the titular head, the moving force
behind the operation was Attorney General Robert Kennedy. In January
1962, the younger Kennedy declared that Castro was the administra-
tion’s top priority and that no time, money, effort or manpower was to
be spared to push for Castro’s overthrow. According to Sam Halpern,
executive officer of Task Force W, “Bobby wanted boom and bang” all
over the island. MONGOOSE did produce a little boom and bang, but
the biggest target, the Matahambre copper mines, went unscathed after
the sabotage operation failed."!

At the ExComm meeting on the morning of 26 October there was
a sense that the combination of limited force and diplomatic efforts had
been unsuccessful and that a direct military confrontation between
the two great powers was inevitable. The largest concentration of U.S.
armed forces since the Korean War was massing in the southeastern
United States. Several different options for air strikes were readied.
Under the contingency plan prepared and preferred by the Joint Chiefs
of Staff, designated Operation Scabbards, a massive air strike would
hit Cuba 12 hours after the President gave the order. Strikes would
continue for seven days, then troops would begin going ashore. These
preparations fueled speculation about an imminent invasion, specula-
tion that was featured in the newspapers delivered to the White House
on Friday morning 26 October.!®

Proposals, 16 October 1962 by Marshall S. Carter. CIA archive.
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McCone began the ExComm meeting with an intelligence brief-
ing where, as on previous days, he read the highlights of that mornings
Watch Committee report: Construction of IRBM [Intermediate Range
Ballistic Missile] and MRBM bases in Cuba is proceeding; road con-
struction around Remedios suggests a fourth IRBM site; 16 dry-cargo
ships having turned back toward the USSR; further indications that
some Soviet and satellite elements, particularly air and ground elements
in Eastern Europe and European Russia, are on alert or readiness status;
Peiping [Beijing] is irritated that the Soviet response to U.S. action is not
stronger; most OAS [Organization of American States] nations offered
to participate in some form in the quarantine; NATO members agreed
with minor reservations to deny landing and overflight rights to Soviet
planes bound for Cuba.

McCone added that “rapid construction activity” was continuing,
apparently directed toward achieving a full operational capability as
soon as possible. ...As yet there is no evidence indicating any intention
to move or dismantle these sites.”

ExComm then turned its attention to Operation MONGOOSE.
Early in the Crisis the CIA, as noted above, had been pressured,
especially by Robert Kennedy, to do more with MONGOOSE against
Castro. A plan had been developed to land teams of exiles in Cuba by
submarine to collect intelligence, conduct sabotage operations, and
perhaps even to try to destroy the Soviet missile sites. McCone decided
that the CIA would not be prodded into launching this intelligence and
sabotage mission on its own. He ordered that the planned operation
be suspended and told the ExComm what he had done. If there was a
military requirement, he said, then that requirement should be handled
by McNamara and the Joint Chiefs of Staff. A meeting to decide how
to proceed was arranged to take place in the Pentagon that afternoon.'*

The afternoon following the ExComm meeting McCone, McNa-
mara, General Taylor, Robert Kennedy, Lansdale, Harvey, and others
met to give guidance to Operation MONGOOSE. McCone stated that
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he thought the MONGOOSE goal was to encourage the Cuban people
to take Cuba away from Castro and to set up a proper form of govern-
ment. It was decided that a new Cuban political office to plan for the
post-invasion government would be secretly set up by the State Depart-
ment. Also decided was that the infiltration of agents was to be held
up pending a determination by DOD and State Department as to what
military and political information was needed.'**

As noted above, Robert Kennedy was the driving force behind
Operation MONGOOSE and the sizable activities of the U.S. govern-
ment to get rid of Castro by any means possible.'”” In Thirteen Days
he paints an entirely different picture where he denies that he and the
President were out to get Castro. “There is a theory that John and Robert
Kennedy were ‘obsessed” with Castro and out to destroy him. If that
had been the case, the deployment of Soviet nuclear missiles in Cuba
would have provided a heaven-sent pretext—one that would have been
accepted around the world—to invade Cuba and smash Castro forever.
Instead, Robert Kennedy led the fight against military intervention, and
John Kennedy made the decision against it. Some obsession.”!%

The Height of the Crisis: 22 — 28 October

The days between Monday, 22 October and Sunday, 28 October
were days of high drama and extreme anxiety in the White House. Both
Kennedy and Khrushchev were in fear that events were spinning out
of control and that a conflict was almost unavoidable, a conflict that
could well erupt into all-out war between their two countries. Their
fears were heightened by numerous actions that took place during this
critical week: Khrushchev’s ships were streaming steadily toward the
quarantine line; The Soviet air defense system became operational
and immediately thereafter successfully shot down Air Force Major
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Rudolf Anderson’s U-2C; Castro had ordered Cuban anti-aircraft bat-
teries to operational status, and they began to fire on low-level U.S.
reconnaissance planes; a U-2 had inadvertently strayed into Soviet air
space causing Soviet leaders to fear it was a reconnaissance mission
ahead of an American attack; Foxtrot submarines had been discovered
near the ships transporting Soviet weapons and supplies enroute to
Cuba; construction at the MRBM sites had appreciably accelerated;
and Khrushchev decided to play tough demanding the dismantlement
of American-controlled missile bases in Turkey.

As Kennedy and the ExComm struggled to assess the situation and
decide a course of action, U.S intelligence played a key supporting role
by providing answers to critical questions.

Are the Surface-to-Air Missiles Operational?

With the discovery of SA-2 missiles on 29 August 1962, U.S. intel-
ligence actively sought to collect signals from the two radars associated
with those systems: the SPOON REST long-range target acquisition
radar and the FRUIT SET target tracking and missile control radar.
Each was identifiable by experts who were trained to recognize their
telltale electronic signatures.

Fear of SA-2 missiles played a major role in planning U-2 missions
as noted earlier in the meeting of 10 September where Secretary Rusk
scaled back CIA overflight plans. Though SAM sites had been seen as
early as late August, they did not become operational until late October.
Why weren’t the missiles and their associated radars made operational
sooner? Certainly, the Soviets were aware that the U-2 was repeatedly
flying over Cuba; knowing that, and knowing their missiles sites were
vulnerable to overhead observation, why didn’t they get the SA-2’s
ready sooner to take action against the U-2. One possible reason may
be the same reason the Soviets didn’t make an effort to hide the nuclear
missile sites: standard operating procedures.'”” Another possible reason

107. This can be understood as Model IT Organizational Behavior where large organiza-
tions function according to standard routines and patterns of behavior. See Graham Alli-
son and Philip Zelikow, Essence of Decision; Explaining the Cuban Missile Crisis, second
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is that the SA-2 crews were in no hurry to make them operational since
Khrushchev had instructed his Soviet forces on the island not to fire
on U.S. planes. Later, when they did and succeeded in downing Major
Anderson’s U-2, Khrushchev was angry and extremely unsettled, fear-
ful that he had lost control, even of his own forces.

Understanding the operational status of the SA-2 sites largely
depended on SIGINT, specifically the interception of the emissions
from the radars that were associated with the SA-2 missile by elec-
tronic intelligence (ELINT) sources. Those sources were the Oxford,
a converted WWII Liberty ship which operated under the technical
direction and control of NSA, and SAC RB-47H aircraft that had been
operating around Cuba in search of SA-2 radar signals under Operation
Common Cause.

The intelligence community was desperate to acquire the FRUIT
SET radar signals because doing so would enable implementation of
electronic measures that could counter the threat, or at least warn the
pilot of an impending threat. CIA developed a plan to modify a Ryan
Q2C drone with special ELINT collection equipment. The drone if
tracked by the SA-2 associated FRUIT SET radar would receive the
signals, convert them to another frequency, and re-broadcast the data
to ground or airborne receivers stationed well offshore of Cuba. It was
soon decided that the time to outfit the drone was unacceptable and
another plan was to have a U-2 overfly a SAM site while an ELINT
aircraft in the vicinity, but safely offshore, would acquire the FRUIT
SET signals. It was clearly understood that the risk of sending the U-2
over an operational SA-2 would be high, but was considered accept-
able given the importance of acquiring the signal. On the 14 October
SAC mission that first discovered the MRBM miissiles, the FRUIT SET
radar signal was not “heard” presumably because the SA-2 sites were
not yet operational.'*®

The spy ship USS Oxford (officially termed a Technical Research
Ship) first detected a SPOON REST radar in Cuba on 15 September

ed., New York: Longman Publishing Group, 1999, p. 143.
108. Memorandum for the Record, Subject: Notes on Factors Bearing on Reconnaissance
of Cuba, dated 28 October, 1962, unknown author, CIA files.
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1962, but it was evidently just a test. On 20 October it picked up sig-
nals from a FRUIT SET radar. That suggested that SAM missiles were
fully checked out and could be launched at any time. Other intelligence
showed that the Soviets had taken over the entire air defense network.
Only anti-aircraft guns that would be used against low-flying U.S.
aircraft remained under Cuban control (SAM missiles did not threaten
low-flying reconnaissance aircraft because they were too low for SAM’s
to be effective).!”

Around midnight on Friday, 26 October a SPOON REST radar
came online, was picked up by the Oxford and immediately reported
to NSA headquarters via dedicated circuits.'?

Major Rudolf Anderson, Jr., who along with Major Heyser had been
checked out by the CIA in the U-2C model and was designated as backup
pilot to Major Heyser for the 14 October mission, had flown several
Cuban U-2 missions, and was flying one the morning of Saturday 27
October, a tragic day that would be remembered as “Black Saturday.”
Major Anderson took off from McCoy Air Force Base in one of two
U-2’s that SAC had “borrowed” from the CIA and repainted with Air
Force insignia. CIA’s U-2C was less threatened by SA-2 missiles than
Air Force versions, but even at seventy-two thousand feet they were
still vulnerable as senior U.S. officials well knew.

Word reached Washington the evening of 27 October that Anderson
had been shot down. The Oxford had intercepted a teletype message
saying that the Cubans had recovered his body and the wreckage from
his plane. NSA also possessed a couple of minutes of Soviet air defense
tracking suggesting that the U-2 went down somewhere near Banes.""!
Major Anderson’s body was returned to the U.S. from Havana aboard
a Swiss airplane.'?

109. Dobbs, One Minute to Midnight, p. 185.

110. Col. H. Wayne Whitten. Without a Warning: The Avoidable Shootdown of a U-2 Spy-
plane During the Cuban Missile Crisis, Whitten and Associates (self-published), 2017, p.
70.

111. Dobbs, One Minute to Midnight, p. 301.

112. See photograph from “The Once-Classified Tale of Juanita Moody” by David
Wolman published in Smithsonian Magazine, March 2021. No page number.
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The order to attack Anderson’s U-2 was given by Lt. General Stepan
Grechko, the commander of Soviet air defenses on the island. Grechko
had brought the entire air defense radar network into full combat mode
the night before and was following Anderson’s U-2 in real time since
before it entered Cuban air space. He became concerned when the U-2
made the turn toward Guantanamo and overflew the area where the
general knew an FKR cruise missile battery had secretly moved over-
night to an open firing position 15 miles from the huge American naval
base and was now exposed to overhead reconnaissance.'?

According to Alexander Orlov in “The U-2 Program: A Russian
Officer Remembers,” Grechko tried—unsuccessfully—to reach his
superiors but was unable to and made the decision to fire his missiles
against the intruding airplane. Orlov was ever-present at the central
command post for Soviet Air Defense Forces and says he vividly
remembers the extremely tense time. Shortly after Anderson was shot
down a message came from Moscow consisting of two sentences: “You
were hasty. Ways of settlement have been outlined...”"* Khrushchey,
who had learned about the shoot down from a Pentagon report, was
furious as he knew that Kennedy would have no choice but to oblige
his military leaders with some form of retaliation.

According to Whitten who quoted Khrushchev, the shoot down
was a turning point for Khrushchev who felt the crisis was slipping
out of control. Not only had he no control over U.S. actions, he saw the
loss of the American spy plane as signaling his loss of control over his
own forces.!'s 116

113. Whitten, p. 54. The FKR missiles had just been moved into a position from which,
had conflict erupted, they would have attacked the Guantanamo base inflicting huge casu-
alties from the nuclear warheads they carried. A map from Dobbs p. 243 shows Anderson’s
flight path over the FKR position.

114. Alexander Orlov. “The U-2 Program: A Russian Officer Remembers,” Studies in Intel-
ligence, Winter 1998-1999.

115. Whitten, p. 60.

116. A fascinating but totally untrue tale was told by Carlos Franqui, journalist and former
Castro aide. In his book he claims that it was Castro that pushed the button that launched
the SA-2 missile against Anderson’s U-2. From the book’s foreword: “During the October
crisis Fidel Castro, on a visit to a super-secret, Russian-manned missile base on the west-
ern end of the island, innocently asks a technician to show him the button that fires the
rockets. The Russian complies. The Russian also shows Castro a radar screen which at that
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The shootdown of Major Anderson was an avoidable tragedy
that could very well have had grave consequences. The U.S. had been
monitoring the airwaves around Cuba to intercept signals from radars
associated with the SA-2 surface-to-air missile. Those airwaves had
largely been quiet until the night of 26 October when multiple ELINT
intercepts signaled that the Soviet air defense network suddenly became
active and remained so afterword. NSA would later say that on 27
October, the Cuban Air Defense System came of age; “...The operators
after 27 October are much more proficient than previously noted and
are obviously experienced Soviet operators.”""

The command center at NSA that had been established by the direc-
tor for the crisis would have had the actionable intelligence hours before
Anderson took off on his fateful mission. Apparently, this information
had not been communicated to CIA or the Pentagon despite the fact
that it was well known that Washington principals were attuned to the
SAM threat given the vulnerability of the U-2. DCI McCone who in
reporting on the latest intelligence at the ExComm’s morning meeting
on 27 October made no mention of SAM radars having been activated,
clearly signaling a threat to any U-2 flights. Neither McNamara or
General Taylor who were in attendance had intelligence to report in
that regard."®

NSA is to blame for having actionable intelligence that could have
been communicated to decision makers in time to have Anderson’s
mission canceled. But the Strategic Air Command, which was respon-
sible for Anderson’s mission, also failed. SAC, unlike when CIA was
running Cuban missions, had failed to coordinate with NSA on U-2

very moment is tracking an American reconnaissance plane on a routine flight over Cuba.
‘Is that an American spy plane’ asks Castro. Da da! Suddenly the Prime Minister presses
the button. Swoosh! He didn’t even have to aim: that was handled by computer. The Rus-
sians, aghast, can only watch as their missile rises in the green, ghostly oscilloscope of the
radar to collide with the moving spook. One second later the two shadows disappear from
the screen with a flash.” See Foreword by G. Cabrera Infante in Carlos Franqui, Family
Portrait with Fidel, New York: Random House, 1985. Franqui tells the story in his own
words on p. 193.

117. Memorandum, subject: Soviet Involvement in the Air Defense Activities of Cuba, 1
November 1962 (from Whitten, p. 94).

118. Whitten, p. 78.
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mission timing and flight paths, when doing so would have enabled
NSA listening posts to provide warning.

A SAC RB-47H had arrived on station off Cuba about an hour
before Anderson’s U-2 entered Cuban air space. As the RB-47H flew
around the coast of Cuba the ELINT crew began picking up SPOON
REST radar signals. (The Oxford had picked up similar signals the
night before.) Then they intercepted an ominous signal, from the telltale
FRUIT SET fire control radar, a clear indication of the SAM threat. The
officers onboard the aircraft radioed the new threat information using
the code word “Big Cigar” to the SAC Reconnaissance Center. but there
was no way to inform Major Anderson that he was in imminent mortal
danger."” As Whitten notes, both the U-2 and the RB-47H were under
the command of the SAC Reconnaissance Center. Yet the right hand
had no idea what the left hand had discovered.

The lack of coordination within the SAC Reconnaissance Center
between those knowledgeable of the RB-47H intercepts and those
planning Anderson’s U-2 mission is shocking. So is the inability of
the RB-47 crew to communicate a warning directly to Anderson, and
the failure of SAC to relay the warning to him. And, unfortunately,
Anderson’s U-2 was not equipped with electronic countermeasures
equipment that could have warned him that he was under immediate
threat, enabling him to take evasive action. CIA had just completed
development of a SA-2 warning system, called System 12, but it unfor-
tunately was not available in time to be used on Anderson’s U-2.'%°

119. Ibid, p. 57.

120. Dobbs in One Minute to Midnight says on p. 219 that Anderson’s U-2 was equipped
with a warning device for detecting SA-2 radar signals and once detected the pilot would
attempt evasive action. See also Brugioni, p. 182. It seems that Dobbs and Brugioni are
incorrect. Whitten, p. 83, writes that contrary to reports, Anderson’s U-2F [actually a
U-2C] did not have a SA-2 radar warning receiver. The receiver called System 12 [System
X1l in CIA terminology] had completed development and was about to be tested at Area
51, CIA’s flight test facility, and was therefore unavailable for Anderson’s U-2. Installation
of System 12 in USAF U-2’s was delayed until January 1963 due to SAC commanders con-
cerns about potential compromise of the technology that was used by the strategic bomber
force. Pedlow and Welzenbach, Appendix C, “Electronic Devices Carried by the U-2,”
refer to System XII as being used by U-2’s overflying China (circa 1964) and Vietnam, but
makes no mention of its use in U-2’s overflying Cuba.
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The transfer of control of U-2 operations over Cuba from CIA to
SAC indirectly resulted in the loss of warnings from NSA’s listening
posts. In the wake of the U-2 shoot down, the NSA Director claimed
that SAC didn’t keep them informed about the U-2 schedules as did
CIA, and consequently NSA could not provide warnings of reac-
tions by Soviet air defenses. SAC’s failure to protect Anderson are
consistent with observations by Deputy CIA Director Major General
Marshall Carter. In a memorandum to McCone, he wrote that during
the period when CIA was flying U-2’s over Cuba, CIA had developed
a very coordinated system. That included NORAD radars, Navy and
Air Force communications links, and the Air-Sea rescue services. He
further noted that when the operation was turned over to SAC, the bulk
of these safeguards fell by the wayside. “...when Major Anderson was
shot down, he was not under radar coverage nor was SAC really on top
of his problems.”"» Thomas R. Johnson also wrote in his Cryptologic
history that U-2 flights over Cuba had not been receiving advisory
warning support from the cryptologic community. After the Anderson
shootdown, NSA directed the hurried implementation of a warning
system under the White Wolf program.'?

After the loss of Major Anderson President Kennedy and ExComm
debated at length whether and how to respond despite earlier having
agreed that an attack on a U-2 would be cause for an American attack
on one or more SAM sites. The discussion apparently began with Rusk
whose sense was that Khrushchev was not in a good position vis-a-vis
the U.S. and spoke about the necessity for “enforced surveillance.” “We
shoot at anybody who gets in our way.” “If we do have to enforce our
right to overfly...the accidental fact that some Russians technicians may
be around at the time we have to shoot, since they’ve already fired the
first shot, is something that is regrettable, but it is not something that
we can make a very public issue out of.”

121. Memorandum for the Director by MSC [Marshall S. Carter] dated 3 November 1962.
ClA archive.

122. Thomas R. Johnson and David A. Hatch. NS4 and the Cuban Missile Crisis; NSA
Center for Cryptologic History, p. 330.
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Not long after Rusk had made his point, Kennedy entered the dis-
cussion: “I think we ought to wait till tomorrow afternoon to see whether
we get any answers if U Thant goes down there [to Cubal]. I think we
ought to figure that Monday, if tomorrow [Sunday] they fire at us and
we don’t have any answer from the Russians, then Monday;, it seems to
me...we ought to, maybe consider making a statement tomorrow about
the firing and that we’re going to take action now any place in Cuba on
those areas which can fire. And then go in and take all the SAM sites
out. I don’t think it does any good to take out, to try to fire at a 20 mm
[referring to Cuban anti-aircraft guns that were firing on American low-
level reconnaissance aircraft] on the ground. We just hazard our planes.
On the other hand, I don’t want, I don’t think we do any good to begin
to sort of half do it. I think we ought to keep tomorrow clean, do the
best we can with the surveillance. If they still fire and we haven’t got
a satisfactory answer back from the Russians, then | think we ought to
put a statement out tomorrow that we are fired upon. We are therefore
considering the island of Cuba as an open territory, and then take out
all these SAM sites. If we don’t get some satisfaction from the Russians
or U Thant or Cuba tomorrow night, figure that Monday we’re going
to do something about the SAM sites.”

The President’s decision not to retaliate was probably one of the
most important of the entire crisis.'> Khrushchev did accept the Presi-
dent’s offer proposing a solution to the crisis and there were no further
attacks on U.S. planes.

Are the MRBM’s Operational?

Senior U.S. officials were desperate to know the readiness status
of the MRBM missiles. The longer it took to reach operational status
the more time there was in which to decide a U.S. course of action.
The members of ExComm were racing against the clock: as soon as the

123. Executive Committee meeting of the National Security Council on the Cuban Missile
Crisis on 27 October, time 9:00 PM transcript.

124. Joseph F. Bouchard. Command In Crisis: Four Case Studies, New York: Columbia
University Press, 1991, p. 108.
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launching pads were ready, the threat of nuclear attack would be real
and the Soviet position would be reinforced. According to Roger Hils-
man, a surgical strike could be considered only if none of the missiles
were operational. If any of the missiles were operational, some local
Soviet commander might panic, assume that the big war was on with the
Soviet Union itself under attack, and take matters into his own hands.'*

Khrushchev pressed his forces in Cuba to make the missiles
operational on a crash basis because he presumably thought he could
improve the terms of an eventual bargain by increasing the stakes of
any attack on the missiles, thereby increasing Kennedy’s motivation for
a deal. The danger of his strategy was that he was increasing pressure
on the U.S. to attack the missiles before they became operational and
that would likely been followed by an invasion, the event the missiles
had been intended to forestall. On the other hand, the stronger his hand,
the more likely that Kennedy might seek a diplomatic solution.?

Two intelligence sources contributed to answering the question
of the readiness status of Soviet MRBM forces in Cuba: photographs
from low-level reconnaissance missions and information provided by
Colonel Oleg Penkovsky of the GRU, a spy who worked as an agent
for CIA and the British MI-6. One of Penkovsky’s most important
contributions was the secret Soviet manuals for the SS-4 MRBM that,
at great personal risk, he secretly photographed and gave to Western
intelligence. They contained the operational details of the liquid-fueled
missiles that enabled analysts to interpret what they saw in the overhead
photography.'?” In an interview of 8 December 1990, Richard Helms
said he didn’t know of any single instance where intelligence was more
immediately valuable. Penkovsky’s material had a direct application
because it came right in the middle of the decision-making process.'?

125. Hilsman, p. 99.

126. Daniel Ellsberg. The Doomsday Machine; Confessions of a Nuclear War Planner,
New York: Bloomsbury, 2017, p. 203.

127. Jerrold L. Schecter and Peter Deriabin. The Spy who Saved the World; How a Soviet
Colonel Changed the Course of the Cold War, New York: Charles Scribner’s Sons, 1992,
p. 334.

128. Ibid, p. 335.
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The analysts used Penkovsky’s information to identify what they
were seeing in the overhead images. But they also needed to understand
what the position or status of an individual piece of equipment—say a
missile fueling truck—meant in terms of the overall readiness to fire the
missile. That piece of the puzzle was provided by interagency experts
of USIB committees, the Joint Atomic Energy Intelligence Committee
(JAEIC) and the Guided Missiles Astronautics Intelligence Commit-
tee (GMAIC). The experts provided criteria by which analysts could
estimate the readiness and operational status of the Soviet missiles.

Penkovsky’s information was helpful in identifying the missiles in
Cuba as SS-4 MRBMs based on the similarity of the missile deploy-
ment patterns in Cuba to those shown in the missile manual. This
intelligence supplanted what the U.S. already knew of Soviet missile
deployments in the USSR because those patterns had been observed
earlier on photographs taken by the CORONA reconnaissance satellite.
Those photographs also enabled U.S. intelligence to identify pieces of
equipment seen in Cuba as MRBM-related. CORONA images of the
SS-4 in the USSR had been measured (a process called mensuration),
and comparable measurements of photographs of the missile and its
equipment in Cuba provided further proof that the MRBM’s in Cuba
were the Soviet SS-4 type.

Perhaps equally important to the technical intelligence on Soviet
missiles that Penkovsky provided is that he shed light on the internal
debate inside the USSR concerning nuclear war. His material made it
clear that the USSR lacked the nuclear missile capability that Khrush-
chev claimed, thus enabling Kennedy to call Khrushchev’s bluff. Pen-
kovsky’s reports and their insights were critical in forming Kennedy’s
view of Khrushchev and how to deal with him. It should be noted
that Penkovsky never provided intelligence on the Soviet plans for the
Cuban venture or concrete information as to military measures being
undertaken in Cuba.'”

129. Kenneth Absher in his book, Mind-sets and Missiles, p. 30, claims that Penkovsky
told his case officers about Soviet plans to send SAM’s to Cuba. This is untrue, a mis-
reading of The Spy Who Saved the World, p. 331. (Absher, Mind-sets and Missiles: A
First Hand Account of the Cuban Missile Crisis, Carlisle, PA: Strategic Studies Institute,
U.S. Army War College, September 2009. https://cdn.ymaws.com/cicentre.com/resource
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No doubt Penkovsky contributed highly valuable intelligence to
crisis decision-making, but Schecter and Deriabin overstate his contri-
bution when they say, “During the Berlin crisis of 1961 and the Cuban
Missile Crisis of 1962, Penkovsky was the spy who saved the world from
nuclear war” and “This information, channeled directly to President
Kennedy on a regular basis, was instrumental in assuring U.S. victory
during the Cuban Missile Crisis.”’3

Colonel Oleg Penkovsky was arrested in the USSR on 22 October,
coincidentally the same day that President Kennedy went on television
and revealed to the world that the Soviets had deployed strategic nuclear
missiles to the island of Cuba. On 17 May 1963, Pravda reported that
O.V. Penkovsky had been sentenced to be shot for treason to the Moth-
erland. “The sentence has been executed.”!

There seems little reason to doubt that some nuclear missiles prob-
ably could have been launched during the critical week of 22-28 October.
Itis virtually certain that some missiles could have been launched at the
U.S. from one or more sites by the time they were discovered and that
some missiles could have been launched from all six sites by 28 October
when the Soviet authorities announced their decision to withdraw the
missiles.” This judgment was later proven to be accurate.

The actual operational status of the Soviet MRBM forces in Cuba at
the time was revealed by the commander of the division that controlled
the three regiments containing 24 launchers. Individual regiments
reached full combat readiness on the dates of 20, 25 and 27 October,
while the missile division reached full combat readiness and was able
to deliver a strike from all 24 launchers on 27 October.'*

/resmgr/articles/mindsets _and_missiles.pdf)

130. Schecter and Deriabin, p. 3, and book jacket.
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How Is Moscow Reacting?

Following the President’s speech, the U.S. military attachés of the
American Embassy in Moscow made a concerted effort to observe first-
hand the situation as the crisis unfolded: How was Moscow managing
the crisis internally and were there any indictors of Soviet preparations
for hostilities? The attachés put into operation a joint plan for com-
prehensive, around the clock intelligence observation in Moscow and
environs, looking for anything out of the ordinary that might illuminate
Soviet intentions and reaction to the situation, especially as concerned
war preparations. Were government offices being evacuated? Were civil
defense measures being taken? Were the number of trucks on the street
day and night normal? The attachés of the three services pooled their
efforts, sending daily a joint report to Washington.

Not surprisingly, Soviet leaders were very proficient at managing
the news about the crisis: Soviet news sources did not report the blockade
Kennedy announced on 22 October until some 48 hours later. Pravda
carried a Soviet version of the president’s speech distorted in such
fashion that the Russian people would not know about the Soviet troops
and missiles in Cuba. The first hint about Soviet missiles in Cuba was
given to the Russians at 1900 hours, 27 October when Moscow radio
argued that “...if the United States believes it has the right to demand
removal from Cuba of missiles described by Washington as offensive,
then it will be natural to recognize the USSR’s right to demand the
withdrawal of American destructive rocket weapons from Turkey, a
country that is our next door neighbor.”** The complete domination of
the internal information environment assured the Soviet leadership a
high degree of flexibility in managing the crisis.

The Soviet government did issue a statement in response to Presi-
dent Kennedy’s speech. A CIA assessment of the statement indicated
that Soviet leaders desired to avoid any appearance of acquiescing
to the measures announced by the President but, at the same time, to
stay clear of specific countermeasures. The Soviet statement, warning

134. William F. Scott. “The Face of Moscow in the Missile Crisis; Observations of the
attachés in the Soviet Union in the fall of 1962,” Studies in Intelligence, Spring 1966.
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that the U.S. is “recklessly playing with fire,” appeared to be aimed at
placing the U.S. on the defensive and generating worldwide opposition
to U.S. policy in the Cuban Crisis. It sought to play down the USSR’s
role in the crisis by portraying the issue as one between Cuba and the
U.S. Further, the statement said: “The U.S. is demanding that military
equipment Cuba needs for self-defense be removed from Cuban terri-
tory, a demand which naturally no state which values its independence
can meet.”'s

Throughout the entire period of the crisis, the attachés had seen
nothing in Moscow that reflected the serious external tension. The
only observable Soviet reaction was the ban on all travel in the Soviet
Union, and this was not put into effect until after Kennedy’s speech.
Even with the benefit of hindsight, the attachés could not point to any
unusual Soviet behavior during the month of October. That the crisis
was fully ended became apparent on 1 November during a reception
at the Japanese Embassy. An unusual number of senior Soviet air force
officers was present, and their attitude toward the U.S. air attachés was
more nearly appropriate to the days some seventeen years earlier when
the Russian and Americana allies met on the Elbe, than to the after-
math of a desperate hostile confrontation; the Soviet officers insisted
on toasting and drinking with the U.S. airmen, offering toasts to peace
and friendship.'

Though not apparent to the U.S. military attachés in Moscow, the
Soviets had reacted to the deployment of their forces to Cuba and the
crisis that followed by alerting their military forces. One of NSA’s major
jobs during the period was watching Soviet force readiness levels and it
first saw an increase on 11 September when the Soviets suddenly went
into their highest readiness stage since the beginning of the Cold War.
Although the units at highest readiness were generally defense-related,
the alert included some unprecedented activity among offensive forces.
The alert may have been called because Moscow suspected that Ken-

135. Current Intelligence Memorandum, Subject: Comment on 23 October Soviet Govern-
ment Statement on President Kennedy’s Speech, dated 23 October. Central Intelligence
Agency, Office of Current Intelligence, OCI No. 3555/62.

136. Scott. “The Face of Moscow.”
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nedy had found out about the missiles. (Kennedy’s public statement
on 4 September had warned the Soviets.) The 11 September alert was
canceled ten days later, but on 15 October Soviet forces went into a
preliminary, perhaps precautionary, stage of alert. Once again, this
readiness level was likely due to Khrushchev’s supposition that the
U.S. had discovered a missile site. He knew and expected that the U.S,
would find out; the only question was when.

Following Kennedy’s Oval Office speech on 22 October, Soviet
forces again went into an extraordinarily high state of alert, similar to
the September event. This time, however, with nuclear war threatening,
defensive forces were primary. Offensive forces avoided assuming the
highest readiness stage, as if to ensure that Kennedy understood that
the USSR would not be the first to launch nuclear missiles. Long-range
aviation units continued normal training, although some precautionary
steps were taken, such as ensuring that the Arctic staging bases could
be used. PVO (air defense) units went into the highest state of alert ever
observed, as did Soviet tactical air forces.

NSA gave the White House the only timely information that it had
about the Soviet reaction and military force alert posture prior to and
during the crisis.”®” SIGINT data gave the U.S. decision makers some
feel for Soviet responses to the statements of the U.S. positions during
the crisis period. Also, it provided information on the reactions of other
nations—friendly, uncommitted, and potential enemy."

ill Khrushchev Run the Blockade?

The evening of 22 October, President Kennedy announced that
a proclamation was to be signed the next day and would contain a
period of grace, at the end of which a quarantine would be imposed.
The following day, McNamara held a press conference where he stated:

137. Thomas R. Johnson. United States Cryptologic History, American Cryptology during
the Cold War, 1945-1989, Book II: Centralization Wins, 1960-1972, National Security
Agency, p. 330.

138. Donald C. Wigglesworth. “The Cuban Missile Crisis: A SIGINT Perspective,” Cryp-
tologic Quarterly, Vol. 13, No. 1, Spring 1994, p. 93.
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“The President thirty minutes ago at 7:00 PM signed the proclamation
ordering the interdiction of offensive weapons moving into Cuba, and
under the terms of that proclamation, | have taken the necessary steps
to deploy our forces to be in a position to make effective the quarantine
at 2:00 PM, tomorrow, Greenwich time. That will be the equivalent of
10:00 AM, Eastern Daylight Time.” “Secondly, the Joint Chiefs of Staff
have designated Admiral George Anderson, Chief of Naval Operations,
as their Executive Agent for the operation of the quarantine and the
quarantine forces. In turn, Admiral Dennison, Commander in Chief,
Atlantic, is the responsible Unified Commander. And, operating under
him in direct charge of the quarantine task force will be Vice Admiral
Alfred Ward, Commander of the Second Fleet. Admiral Ward’s task
force will be known as Task Force 136. It will be composed of major
naval units, including carriers, cruisers, destroyers, and the associated
logistical forces.”*

Institution of the blockade presented the first test of will between
the President and Premier Khrushchev. Khrushchev’s first reaction
to Kennedy’s pronouncement came on 23 October and was followed
by another on 24 October. In his first letter he mildly admonished the
U.S. for what he regarded as undisguised interference in the internal
affairs of the Republic of Cuba, the Soviet Union, and other states,
and he reaffirmed that “the armaments which are in Cuba, regardless
of the classification to which they may belong, are intended solely for
defensive purposes in order to secure the Republic of Cuba against the
attack of an aggressor.” His second letter on 24 October took a more
defiant position. “You, Mr. President, are not declaring a quarantine,
but rather are setting forth an ultimatum and threatening that if we do
not give in to your demands, you will use force.” “No, Mr. President, |
cannot agree to this.” *“You wish to compel us to renounce the rights that
every sovereign state enjoys, you are trying to legislate in questions of
international law, and you are violating the universally accepted norms
of that law.” “The Soviet government considers that the violation of the
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freedom to use international waters and international air space is an
act of aggression which pushes mankind toward the abyss of a world
nuclear-missile war. Therefore, the Soviet government cannot instruct
the captains of Soviet vessels bound for Cuba to observe the orders
of American naval forces blockading that island. Our instructions to
Soviet mariners are to observe strictly the universally accepted norms
of international waters and not to retreat one step from them.” “Natu-
rally we will not simply be bystanders with regard to puritanical acts
by American ships on the high seas. We will then be forced on our part
to take the measures we consider necessary and adequate in order to
protect our rights. We have everything necessary to do so.”* 4

The morning the quarantine went into effect reports told of the
Russian ships coming steadily on toward Cuba. Robert Kennedy wrote:
“This Wednesday morning meeting, [ExComm10:00 AM, 24 October]
along with that of the following Saturday, 27 October, seemed the most
trying, the most difficult, and the most filled with tension. I sat across
from the President...the danger and concern that we all felt hung like
a cloud over us all and particularly over the President.” At that meeting
Secretary McNamara announced that two Russian ships were within
a few miles of the quarantine barrier. Then came the disturbing Navy
report that a Russian submarine had moved into position between the
two ships. “I think these few minutes were the time of gravest concern
for the President.”#

Then it was 10:25—a messenger brought in a note to John McCone
who said. “Mr. President, we have a preliminary report which seems to
indicate that some of the Russian ships have stopped dead in the water.”
Asked whether the report was true, McCone replied: “The report is
accurate, Mr. President. Six ships previously on their way to Cuba at
the edge of the quarantine line have stopped or have turned back toward
the Soviet Union. A representative from the Office of Naval Intelligence
is on his way over with the full report.” A short time later, the report

140. Pope, Soviet Views, pp. 32-6. Khrushchev’s message was received in Washington at
9:24 PM, 24 October.

141. In Thirteen Days, p. 62, the words attributed to Khrushchev’s letter of 23 October
were actually contained in his letter of 24 October.

142. Kennedy, Thirteen Days pp. 52-3.
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came that the twenty Russian ships closest to the barrier had stopped
and were dead in the water or had turned around.'*

The central nervous system for the Navy’s planned blockade was
located in Navy Flag Plot, room 6D624 in the Pentagon, where charts
detailed the movements of every warship in the area. In command was
Chief of Naval Operations Admiral George W. Anderson whose office
was just down the hall from Flag Plot. The movements of Soviet ships
were tracked by U.S. Navy, British and Canadian direction-finding
(DF) stations located around the Atlantic periphery. Those stations
continuously monitored every radio transmission from the Soviet
merchant ships approaching the Cuban quarantine line."** By plotting
the direction fixes on a chart, and seeing where the lines intersected,
analysts could locate the source of the signal. By comparing those fixes
over time, they could determine which direction and at what speed the
ship was traveling.

On 24 October it became apparent from directional fixes that some
of the Soviet ships enroute to Cuba had either slowed down or had altered
or reversed their course. Initial indications of these facts were confirmed
in Flag Plot and in the Navy Field Operational Intelligence Section in
NSA at Fort Meade. On 25 October, Kennedy issued an order not to
intercept and board a Bloc vessel, in view of Khrushchev’s apparent
desire to avoid a direct U.S.-Russian confrontation as evidenced by the
fact that of the 16 Soviet ships that had been located and determined
to be enroute to Cuba, nine that were east of the line had reversed or
altered course away from the quarantine area.'*

In Eyeball to Eyeball Brugioni provides his version of the story:
Late in the evening on 23 October, word was flashed from NSA to the
CIA Watch Office that direction-finding indicated that the Soviet ships
bound for Cuba had not only changed course but were probably on their
way back to Russia. The CIA Watch officer, Harry Eisenbeiss, checked

143. Ibid, p. 55.
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with the Office of Naval Intelligence (ONI). They were also in receipt
of the NSA information but could not confirm the change of course.
On the spot visual confirmation would have to wait until morning. The
Navy felt that it might be a Soviet ploy. Eisenbeiss was convinced of the
validity of the NSA information and in the wee hours of the morning of
24 October went to McCone’s home where he told McCone that at least
five of the Soviet ships had changed course and headed back to Russia,
but that the Navy could not verify the NSA information. McCone said
he would convey the information to the White House immediately.'*¢

All morning long on Wednesday, 24 October, the Navy intelligence
section at Fort Meade bombarded the Office of Naval Intelligence and
Flag Plot with calls that their direction-finding efforts convinced them
that a number of Russian ships had slowed, changed course, and that
some might be on their way back to the Soviet Union. Later Wednesday,
ONI and Flag Plot were convinced the NSA information was valid and
McNamara was informed. Later that afternoon, when McNamara found
that the information had been available since early morning and he had
not been told, he was furious. McNamara stormed into Flag Plot where
a verbal confrontation between he and CNO Anderson ensued."” (Note
that Brugioni’s account of the Soviet ships having stopped or reversed
direction is at odds with Robert Kennedy’s depiction in Thirteen Days.
Brugioni says McCone was told the night before the next day’s ExComm
meeting. Robert Kennedy says the president was informed at the morn-
ing’s ExComm meeting by a note that was given him at the time. If
McCone actually knew, or at least had strong indications about the ships’
movements, he would have said so at the ExComm meeting. Note also
that the depiction in Thirteen Days is backed up by an excerpt from a
transcript of the ExComm meeting.'**) Another account of Soviet ships
redirecting course comes from an article in Smithsonian magazine. The
team at NSA that had been monitoring the positions of Soviet ships
was headed by Juanita Moody, chief of the Cuba desk. On learning in
the middle of the night that at least one ship headed toward Cuba had
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stopped and changed direction, Moody felt the higher-ups needed to
know about it right away. She made an urgent call to Adlai Stevenson,
the U.S. ambassador to the UN, who was slated to address the Security
Council about the crisis the next day. “I called New York and got him
out of bed” she recalled. “I did what | felt was right, and I really didn’t
care about the politics.”* (See the Vignette about Juanita Moody.)

The direction fixes on Soviet ships trickled in gradually, so there
was no precise moment when the intelligence community determined
that Khrushchev had “blinked” as was commonly reported. And yet
the mistaken notion that the Soviet ships had turned around in a tense
battle of wills lingered for decades. The “eyeball to eyeball” imagery
served the political interests of the Kennedy brothers, emphasizing their
courage and coolness at a decisive moment in history but misrepresents
history. The myth was fed by popular books and the movie Thirteen
DayS.lSO’ 151

(The only ship to have been interdicted was the Marucla, a Leba-
nese flagged vessel. On 26 October it was boarded and, after inspection
revealed it held no questionable material, was released to proceed to
Havana. The Marucla had carefully and personally been selected by
Kennedy to be the first ship stopped and boarded. It would demonstrate
to Khrushchev that the quarantine would be enforced, and yet because
it was not a Soviet-owned vessel, did not represent a direct affront to
the Soviets, giving them more time, but simultaneously demonstrating
that the U.S. meant business.)
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Can We Prove There Are Missiles in Cuba?

U-2 missions were designed to provided photographic coverage of
large areas of Cuba searching for evidence of Soviet nuclear missiles,
and in that they succeeded brilliantly. What U-2 photographs could not
do was to show the details of what was found in those photographs. A
U-2 photo could show that a medium-range ballistic missile was present,
but it could not provide the detail that would enable experts to determine
their operational status and readiness for action. This could only be done
from higher quality photography that could be obtained by reconnais-
sance aircraft flying at very low-level, i.e., tactical reconnaissance. DCI
McCone saw the value in low-level reconnaissance flights and in late
August of 1962 in his absence he urged DDCI Carter to propose low-
level reconnaissance missions, but McNamara was unreceptive to the
idea. On 10 September, Carter sent a memorandum to the Secretary of
Defense explaining the need for tactical reconnaissance and as justifi-
cation he cited the need to establish the exact function and operational
characteristics of the Banes facility that had been identified as a possible
surface-to-surface missile site.'> McNamara delayed a decision “until
the results of CIA high-level reconnaissance became available.” The
author of Blue Moon Over Cuba suggests that McNamara’s repeated
refusal to allow low-level reconnaissance flights was most likely based
on his belief that the U-2 flights were undetected. The same would not
be the case for low-level flights and he did not want to reveal American
knowledge of Soviet secrets until the time was right.'>

The same day (16 October) that President Kennedy was told of the
finding of missiles in Cuba, McNamara held a meeting to formulate
plans for stepped up U-2 reconnaissance that the President had directed.
In attendance were DDCI Carter, NPIC’s Arthur Lundahl and Air Force
officers. The feasibility of low-altitude reconnaissance missions was
also discussed. It was no secret in Washington that the Navy, which
had devoted considerable time and effort to developing an effective
reconnaissance capability, had the best totally integrated low-altitude
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reconnaissance capabilities. Lundahl specifically recommended the
Navy’s Light Photographic Squadron No. 62 (VFP-62)'* The squadron
flew unarmed supersonic RF-8A Crusaders.

On Thursday, 18 October, Lundahl'* was briefing the President on
the latest U-2 photography that revealed that at least sixteen MRBM mis-
siles were deployed in Western Cuba at two launch sites. The President
questioned Lundahl if the uninitiated could be persuaded that the U-2
photographs showed offensive MRBM facilities. Lundahl stated “prob-
ably not; we must have low-level photography for public consumption.”
The president agreed, but those missions were delayed for several days
so that the Soviets would not be tipped off that the U.S. government
knew their secrets, thus causing them to expedite construction on the
missile sites. President Kennedy was playing for time while strategies
and options were being debated and developed.'s

On 19 October, Captain Ecker (author of Blue Moon Over Cuba)
received his orders to stage to Naval Air Station Boca Chica, Key West,
Florida, but he and his VFP-62 reconnaissance squadron would have to
wait until the President’s address on 22 October broke the news that Rus-
sian missiles had been discovered before they could fly. On 23 October
during a meeting of the JCS, the chiefs were told the White House had
approved VFP-62 sorties, and on the same day six VFP-62 pilots took
off on missions codenamed Blue Moon to obtain photographs of the
MRBM site at San Cristébal and other high priority targets.'s” Eckert’s
photography of the San Cristobal site showed the missile assembly
equipment, the fuel-tank trailers, the missile erector sites and the launch-
ers themselves. (These were the pictures that Ambassador Stevenson
used on 25 October when he confronted Soviet Ambassador Zorin at
the UN Security Council.) Photos from missions flown on October 25
of four MRBM sites showed that the Soviets were working overtime
to make the MRBM’s operational, and it was estimated that the San
Cristdbal site No 2 would probably be operational by 26 October.
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Photos from Blue Moon missions on 25 October revealed a class of
Soviet weapons not previously discovered. As noted by Michael Dobbs,
what the NPIC photo interpreters found was recognized by Lundahl as
a FROG (Free Rocket Over Ground—Soviet name: “Luna”) missile.
It was well known to U.S. intelligence that FROG missiles could be
armed with either a conventional or a nuclear weapon, but there was
no way of determining which it was from the overhead photography.'s*

The Air Force was anxious to get in on the act and on 24 October,
pilots of the Tactical Air Command (TAC) flew their first missions.
The Air Force, however, lacked a satisfactory low-level reconnaissance
system and the photography from those first missions was unusable. As
Brugioni wrote in Eyeball to Eyeball, the Air Force had not developed
cameras and procedures for high-speed low-altitude photography.'*® The
Navy came to the rescue by providing cameras for Air Force planes
after which Air Force missions provided high quality photography.

During the crisis, Navy and Air Force pilots flew many missions
over Cuba, flying at near-supersonic speed a few hundred feet above
the ground under intense enemy ground fire. The Cuban gunners were
inexperienced and that may have saved U.S. pilots from being shot down.
A quote is attributed to Fidel Castro in which he describes his attempts
to shoot down the low-level reconnaissance planes: “The inexperience
of our artillerymen, who had recently learned to operate these pieces,
probably made them miss as they fired on the low-flying aircraft.”

The author of Blue Moon writes that there is a widely written
account that one of the low-flying jets was hit by anti-aircraft fire but
managed to limp back to base. “This is almost certainly a false report.
There is no documented evidence that RF-8As were ever hit and it is
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undetermined if an RF-101 was.”

Authors James Blight and Janet Lang write about how the low-level
reconnaissance flights affected the Cuban people and the humiliation
they experienced. “Every hour, two U.S. low-flying, high-speed recon-
naissance planes fly overhead at near-supersonic velocity. .. There follows
a momentary but excruciatingly loud roar, well after the planes have
passed overhead... Fidel does not fear these planes, nor do his troops.
What he and they feel is anger: the U.S. planes violate Cuban sover-
eignty at will.” “And now, they assert their right to fly into our airspace
whenever they feel like it, the sonic booms breaking windows, terror-
izing and angering the population.” If the Cubans had shot down one
or more of the U.S. reconnaissance planes, the U.S. would likely have
attacked the island of Cuba. Kennedy had held his fire after the shoot
down of Major Anderson; a second loss would have forced his hand as
the military would have demanded a U.S. response. A Russian response
would likely have been forthcoming, and that response would probably
have included, among other actions, nuking the base at Guantanamo
Bay. Armageddon would have followed in short order.'s3

hat Are Those Submarines Doing?

As part of Operation Anadyr, the Soviets in early October deployed
multiple submarines to Cuba from northern fleet waters. The deploy-
ment was unusual and assumed additional significance because, in the
past, the USSR had seldom deployed even a single submarine in the
Western Atlantic. The Navy began detecting signs of increased Soviet
submarine activity in the Atlantic as early as 13 October, and began
increasing the readiness of its anti-submarine warfare (ASW) forces.
By 24 October, the Soviet subs were well on their way to Cuba and
would reach the quarantine zone a few days later.'*
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The Soviet submarines were identified as Foxtrot (NATO classifi-
cation) diesel-electric attack boats, but the mission of the naval part of
Operation Anadyr, named Kama, was unclear to U.S. intelligence: would
they bring nuclear warheads to Cuba; would they establish a submarine
base in Cuba; were they to protect the Soviet merchant ships and attack
U.S. ships enforcing the quarantine. Because of concerns over possibly
bringing nuclear warheads to Cuba the Kennedy administration would
include Soviet submarines in the quarantine.'®

CIA clandestine reports received before the crisis had suggested
the Soviets were establishing a submarine base in Cuba possibly at
Banes or Mariel. However, CIA had stated that there is no conclusive
evidence that the Soviet authorities intended to use Cuban ports as bases
for either submarines or logistical support.'® Later it would be learned
that C1A’s assessment was incorrect.

Had the Foxtrot subs been deployed to protect the ships that were
delivering offensive missiles to Cuba? Huchthausen writes that the
U.S. Navy assumed the worst case, that the Soviets would not possi-
bly undertake this vast movement of arms and troops without at least
some armed escort. In the absence of surface or long-range air assets,
protection would be provided by the most advanced submarines in
the Soviet naval arsenal.'”” But what Bouchard has written contradicts
Huchthausen’s thesis: “The other three confirmed Soviet submarines
(hull numbers C-18, C-19, and C-20/26) operated in the Atlantic east
and northeast of the Bahamas. They were detected moving toward the
quarantine zone shortly before the quarantine went into effect. Although
these three submarines are often described as escorting the merchant
ships carrying offensive arms to Cuba, their locations and movements
were unrelated to those of the merchant ships.”'

It is now known that the real purpose of the Foxtrot deployment
was to prepare for the establishment of a permanent ballistic missile
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submarine base at Mariel. The four subs were to proceed undetected
to Mariel as an advanced reconnaissance and preparatory move for the
ballistic missile subs, which would follow later according to Russian
documents that the National Security Archive published in 2012 and
to Huchthausen, who writes about orders given by Admiral Rybalko,
the operational commander of the mission: “Your assignment is to get
to Mariel undetected by 20 October and to prepare for the subsequent
deployment of seven ballistic missile submarines, which will follow
with their support ships. You are to reconnoiter the waters surrounding
Mariel and ensure they are free of American anti-submarine forces,
fixed acoustic arrays, and to survey and report the hydroacoustic con-
ditions of the area.”®

At the time of the ExComm meeting on the morning of 24 Octo-
ber Russian merchant ships were proceeding and were nearing the
five-hundred-mile quarantine barrier. McNamara announced that two
Russian ships, the Gagarin and the Kimovsk were within a few miles
of the barrier. The interception of both ships would probably be before
noon Washington time. Then came the disturbing Navy report that a
Russian submarine had moved into position between the two ships
causing President Kennedy to express alarm “If this submarine should
sink our destroyer, then what is our proposed reply.” General Taylor
responded to the President’s concern saying the submarine is going to
be “covered by our anti-submarine warfare patrols and that we have a
signaling arrangement with that submarine.” Alexis Johnson interjected
that he had sent a message to Moscow the night before saying that in
accordance with the President’s proclamation, the Secretary of Defense
had issued the procedures for identification of submarines. McNamara
added that the procedures included the use of practice depth charges as
a warning signal. “When our forces come upon an unidentified subma-
rine, we will ask it to come to the surface for inspection by transmit-
ting the following signals...which they may not be able to accept and
interpret. Therefore, it is the depth charge that is the warning notice
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and the instruction to surface.”'

Robert Kennedy later wrote: “I think these few minutes were the
time of gravest concern for the President. Was the world on the brink
of a holocaust? Was it our error? A mistake? Was there something
further that should have been done? Or not done? His hands went up
to his face and covered his mouth. He opened and closed his fist. His
face seemed drawn, his eyes pained, almost gray. We stared at each
other across the table.””!

McNamara, aware that the President had directed a maximum
ASW effort, was concerned that lack of a standard means of signaling
Soviet submarines to surface could lead to weapons unnecessarily being
used against a Soviet submarine. After the evening ExComm meeting
on 23 October he went to the CNO’s office and met with Vice Admiral
Griffin, Deputy for Fleet Operations and together they devised a unique
set of signals that could be used to signal Soviet submarines to surface.
McNamara immediately approved the special signals. The special
“Submarine Surfacing and Identification Procedures” were transmit-
ted to the fleet five hours before the quarantine went into effect on 24
October. The next day they were broadcast to the world, including the
Soviet Union, in a Notice to Mariners, the standard message used by
all nations to send warnings of navigation hazards.

To ensure the Soviets understood the intent of the notice Assistant
Secretary of Defense for Public Affairs Arthur Sylvester told reporters
on 24 October that “action will be taken to interdict” any submarine
that did not surface when ordered, and the next day a Department of
Defense spokesman told the press that “should a submarine refuse to
cooperate, it would be subject to the same orders applied to other ves-
sels, calling for the minimum amount of force necessary—sinking if
necessary—to require the vessel to permit itself to be searched.”"”

The purpose of the warning signals had been described in a
Pentagon message transmitted to the Soviet government via the U.S.
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Embassy in Moscow on 24 October. “Submerged submarines, on hear-
ing this signal, should surface on an easterly course.” Both Kennedy
and McNamara assumed that the Soviet submarine captains had been
informed about the new procedure and understood the meaning of the
new signals. According to Michael Dobbs they were mistaken. The
Soviet government never acknowledged receipt of the message about the
underwater signals, and never relayed the contents to the commanders
of the Foxtrot submarines.'”

In The Doomsday Machine Daniel Ellsberg discusses the surfacing
and interception procedures from the morning ExComm meeting on
24 October. He writes: “They presumed, they said, that the Soviets had
received the message and passed it on, but they couldn’t be sure.” (A
reading of the transcript fails to find those exact words, but the transcript
is confusing at best.) Ellsberg then says that the four sub commanders
all denied that they had received any such message."” The surfacing
and identification procedures were used on Soviet submarines (C-19
and C-21 and possibly C-18 and C-20/26) during the crisis, but there
are no reported instances of a Soviet submarine immediately surfacing
on hearing the signals. They surfaced because they needed to replenish
air, recharge batteries or because they had a mechanical problem.'”

There are indications that the Soviet government may have directed
its submarines to comply with the U.S. procedures. At least three of the
submarines had surfaced on an easterly course as specified in the Notice
to Mariners. Although this suggests the subs were directed to comply, it
is not conclusive: the three subs had been on an easterly heading before
surfacing anyway. There are no clear cases of Soviet subs making a
large course change specifically to surface on an easterly heading. What
is more revealing is that they surfaced at all. Normally, a sub need
only expose its snorkel to recharge batteries and replenish air. It was
unusual that all of the Soviet subs fully surfaced, sometimes repeatedly
rather than just snorkeling. The Soviet government thus appears to have
directed its subs to comply with U.S. instructions. Bouchard does not
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go as far as to say that, therefore, the submarine commanders surfaced
in response to instructions, but that logically follows.!”

Huchthausen believes the Soviets received the Notice to Mariners
and sent it to the submarine commandeers. On 25 October at the Head-
quarters, Main Navy Staff, Moscow, Admiral Rybalko'”” was handed
the American Notice to Mariners. He and Admiral Fokin'” disagreed
about sending the notice. Rybalko said the notice must be sent to the
submarine commanders so they know what’s going on. Fokin responded
that Gorshkov'” is dead set against sending extraneous material on the
schedules because he believes the traffic analysis will give away the
operation. Rybalko ordered the message to be sent to all units in the
Atlantic and took responsibility for his action.'s

After their return from the deployment, the Soviet submarine com-
manders gathered together and spoke of Rybalko and the hardships of
their deployment. They all knew Rybalko had tried hard to help them
and probably would soon disappear from the scene. He would no doubt
be relieved of his command for his unauthorized transmission of the
U.S. Notice to Mariners on 25 October, against the specific orders of
the commander in chief, Fleet Admiral Gorshkov.'®!

Huchthausen writes that the Foxtrot commanders had, in fact,
received the Notice to Mariners. The commander of B-59, Captain Vitali
Savitsky, received the notice on October 5; Captain Aleksei Dubivko,
commander of B-36 had received the warning notice repeatedly indicat-
ing that whoever was sending it was eager for them to receive it; and
Captain Nikolai Shumkov, commander of B-130, also had the Notice
to Mariners.'s

176. Ibid, p. 123.

177. Rear Admiral Leonid F. Rybalko, commander of the Fourth Red Banner, Order of
Ushakov submarine Squadron.

178. Admiral Vitali Fokin was overall coordinator of Operation Kama responsible for pre-
paring all naval forces participating in the operation.

179. Admiral of the Fleet Sergei Georgevich Gorshkov was known as the father of the
modern Soviet Navy.

180. Huchthausen, October Fury, p. 152.

181. Ibid, p. 256.

182. Ibid, pp. 168, 183, 208.
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The National Security Archive, in its posting of 24 October 2012,
noted that the Soviet submarine commanders, in a series of interviews
in recent years, reported they never received the message conveying
the Notice to Mariners. The Foxtrot commanders had been instructed
in the strongest terms that their transits were to remain secret and to
avoid detection by U.S. ASW forces. “We were constantly reminded
of the need for secrecy in all operation documents and by those who
came to our departure.”®* It would not be surprising then that the com-
manders would deny receiving the notice even if they had. Of interest
in this regard is Dubivko’s comments after returning home and being
interviewed by a commission that was aimed at uncovering violations of
orders, documents, or instructions by the commander or the crew. “We
were accused of violating the secrecy...while trying to avoid the anti-
submarine aircraft of the United States and the anti-submarine ships...
However, they did not take into account the fact that if the commander
abided by NIS-58 [instructions], then the submarine would never have
been able to arrive at the final destination. ..

Of the four Foxtrot subs that secretly left for Cuba on 1 October,
the U.S. Navy detected and closely tracked three: B-36, commanded by
Dubivko, and identified by the U.S. Navy as C-26 and also as C-20/26;
B-59, commanded by Savitsky, and identified as C-19; and B-130, com-
manded by Shumkov, and identified as C-18. Only submarine B-4, com-
manded by Captain Rurik Ketov, escaped intensive U.S. surveillance.'®

With the exception of submarine B-4, the U.S. detected and located
the Foxtrot submarines early, and generally kept them under near
constant surveillance. In reports that the Russians have released, they
indicate that the Americans seemed to have had some advance knowl-
edge of their position. In recollections of his experience on B-59, Senior

183. A.F. Dubivko, First Captain (retired). “In the Depths of the Sargasso Sea,” On the
Edge of the Nuclear Precipice, Moscow: Gregory Page, 1998, p. 4. (Translated by Svetlana
Savranskaya). The National Security Archive Electronic Briefing Book No.75, Document
32. In Operation Anadyr Dubivko was commander of submarine B-36 of the Northern
Fleet.

184. Ibid, p. 16.

185. B-36 was identified by the U.S. Navy as C-26 and later found to be identical with
another identified submarine C-20, thus the designation C-20/26.
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Lieutenant Vadim Orlov who was assigned as the onboard head of the
Radio Intercept Group, wrote that the ASW forces of the opponent were
ready for an encounter with us from the very beginning of our sail to
the Cuban shores. “In the beginning, the Norwegian hydroplanes were
searching for us, then at the Farer line—the British ‘Shackleton’s.” Then
it was the turn of the American ‘Neptune’s.”””'ss

Huchthausen writes about the experience of Captain Aleksei
Dubivko, Commander of Soviet submarine B-36. “Dubivko knew a little
about the U.S. underwater passive hydrophones called the Caesar Sys-
tem.'s” But he didn’t know that they had been as accurate as apparently
they were. Many times, the long-range anti-submarine aircraft came
right over their track and dropped sonobuoy patterns almost directly
ahead. He felt they must be using other information, yet he had been
careful not to radiate their radar, except in low power and only for single
sweeps when visibility dictated and safety was an overriding issue.”'s
Orlov and Dubivko, of course, had no way of knowing that what they
had speculated was in fact true; the U.S. had indeed been aware of the
presence of their submarines. The U.S. Navy had been monitoring the
Foxtrot submarines ever since they slipped out of the Soviet submarine
base on the night of 1 October. Electronic eavesdroppers followed the
flotilla as it rounded the coast of Norway and moved down the Atlantic,
between Iceland and the Western Coast of Scotland. Whenever one of
the Foxtrots communicated with Moscow—which it was required to
do at least once a day—it risked giving away its general location. The
bursts of data were intercepted by listening posts scattered across the
Atlantic, from Scotland to New England. By getting multiple fixes on
the source of the signal, the submarine hunters could get a rough idea

186. Recollections of Vadim Orlov (USSR Submarine B-59). The National Security
Archive Electronic Briefing Book No. 399, Document 7.

187. The Caesar System was the unclassified name for the Sound Surveillance System
(SOSUS), the Navy’s formerly secret underwater network of passive hydrophones
deployed on the ocean floor to detect and track Soviet submarines. SOSUS was deployed
at major natural choke points, and sensor data was transmitted by undersea cables to on-
shore receiving stations. With the end of the Cold War and new technology, SOSUS was
substantially reduced and today supports civilian and scientific applications. SOSUS was
officially declassified in 1998.

188. Huchthausen, p. 177.
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of the subs’ locations.'®

The methods used by the U.S. to obtain such highly important intel-
ligence were at the time extremely sensitive and highly compartmented.
Chief of Naval Operations Admiral George W. Anderson managed U.S.
naval operations from Flag Plot where the positions of Soviet merchant
ships and submarines were monitored. McNamara made frequent
evening visits to Flag Plot, and on one occasion he had an encounter
with Admiral Anderson. McNamara asked why a destroyer was out of
position. The reason was that it was tracking a Soviet submarine, but
Anderson could not reveal that sensitive information because few in
the room were permitted access to such highly classified intelligence.
Anderson invited McNamara to an inner sanctuary and explained the
sensitive source to the Secretary of Defense.'”

Years before the Cuban Missile Crisis Soviet submarines had been
communicating with fleet headquarters using manual Morse transmis-
sions. The U.S. Navy used these communications to locate the subma-
rines by direction-finding techniques to triangulate on the source of the
transmission. In December 1958 those transmissions stopped, leaving
no way for the U.S. Navy to locate Soviet submarines. A research activ-
ity called Project Clarinet Bullseye was initiated in December 1958 to
investigate the loss of Soviet submarine communications and in 1959
it was discovered that the Soviets had begun to communicate using
High Frequency (HF) microbursts to make themselves more difficult to
pinpoint. Microburst signals lasted only about seven tenths of a second.
Prior to that, the Naval Research Laboratory (NRL) in Washington,
D.C. had developed Project Boresight, key to which was a system that
allowed operators to record signals and analyze them “after the fact” to
determine the bearing to the submarine, the source of the transmission.
This retrospective direction-finding capability was one of NRL’s most
significant achievements. The capability became critically important
after 1958 when Soviet subs ceased their Morse code transmissions and

189. Dobbs, One Minute to Midnight, pp. 91-2.

190. Anderson reminiscences as told by A. Dennis Clift. “Ringside at the Missile Crisis,”
Proceedings, U.S. Naval Institute, updated 2013. https:/www.usni.org/magazines
/proceedings/2012/october/ringside-missile-crisis.
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effectively went silent.

By 1960, Boresight'' stations of the Naval Security Group'*? in the
Atlantic (Homestead, Florida; Galeta Island, Panama; Bermuda; the
Azores; Edzell, Scotland; and Hafnir, Iceland) were fully operational.
During the Cuban Missile Crisis in October 1962, Boresight HFDF
(High Frequency Direction Finding) stations were able to track nearly
all Soviet submarines at sea by monitoring their burst transmissions.
Boresight and its successor Clarinet Bullseye and Classic Bullseye were
all closely guarded, secret compartmentalized programs.'”

At NSA the organization responsible for the production of intel-
ligence on the Soviet Navy was the office of A2 where A21 was
responsible for Merchant Shipping, and A22 for Out of Area Soviet
Submarines. The Navy Field Operational Intelligence Office (NFOIO)
at NSA was heavily involved with A22 that was exploiting the data from
Boresight. (One of the analysts in NFOIO at the time was Lt. Bobby
Ray Inman, who would become the Director of NSA [DIRNSA] in 1977
and in 1981 CIA’s Deputy Director.)'**

One of the Navy personnel in A22 was Capt. Norman Klar. He
wrote that there were many supposed sightings of Soviet submarines
headed for Cuba at the time of the Cuban Missile Crisis, but we proved
the exact, much smaller number was “more than three and less than
five.” “The so-called Cuban Missile Crisis was more of the threat of
the Soviets building a Soviet submarine base at Cienfuegos than it was
about land-based missiles. I truly believe that A22 and A21were the two
most valuable sources of intelligence in the entire government during

191. Boresight is the subject of Red November; Inside the Secret U.S. — Soviet War by W.
Craig Reed, published 2010. An extremely critical review of the book and a related inter-
net manuscript is posted under Project Boresight. The reviewers’ comments provide more
information on the Boresight and Bullseye programs. http://jproc.ca/vrp/rrp2/boresight
html.

192. The Naval Security Group was an organization within the United States Navy, tasked
with signals intelligence gathering, cryptology and information assurance.

193. Station HYPO. “Early Direction Finding: From WW1 Through the Cold War.” https://
stationhypo.com/2019/01/05/early-direction-finding-part-1-of-2/.

194. Norman Klar. Confessions of a Code Breaker: Tales from Decrypt, Charlestown, SC:
BookSurge Publishing, 2004, p. 130.
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the missile crisis.”?

The man at NRL credited with devising the means to locate Soviet
submarines was Howard O. Lorenzen,"® known as the father of elec-
tronic warfare. In 2010, the U.S. Navy named the USNS Lorenzen after
him. At NRL, Howard Lorenzen pioneered another breakthrough—
America’s first reconnaissance satellite—in the history of American
electronic intelligence. Known under the cover name GRAB (Galactic
Radiation and Background), it was first conceived by NRL in early 1958
and combined the laboratory’s long experience in electronic intercept
systems with its interest in satellites. On 22 June 1960, the first U.S.
SIGINT satellite was launched from Cape Canaveral. It and its suc-
cessor satellites, known as POPPY, collected signals from air defense
radars in the Soviet Union that could not otherwise be observed by
U.S. intelligence."’

The Post-Crisis Period

By 28 October, Khrushchev had evidently had had enough of his
high-risk, low-profit adventure and in his letter to President Kennedy
of that date said: “In order to eliminate as rapidly as possible a conflict
which endangers the cause of peace, to give confidence to all peoples
of the Soviet Union, the Soviet government, in addition to previously
issued instructions for the cessation of further work at the weapons
construction sites, has issued a new order to dismantle the weapons,

195. Ibid, p. 138.

196. After five years of designing commercial radios and components for Colonial Radio
and Zenith Radio, lowa State University alumnus Howard O. Lorenzen became an electri-
cal engineer at the Naval Research Laboratory (NRL) in 1940. During his career, Loren-
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which you describe as offensive, and to crate and return them to the
Soviet Union.” “I regard with respect and trust the statement you made
in your message of October 27, 1962, that no attack would be made on
Cuba and that no invasion would take place—not only on the part of
the United States, but also on the part of other countries of the Western
Hemisphere, as your same message pointed out. In view of this, the
motives which prompted us to give aid of this nature to Cuba no longer
prevail 8

On 1 November the Soviets began dismantling the long-range mis-
sile sites and withdrawing the MRBM’s and their associated equipment.
The question for U.S. intelligence was then ensuring the missiles were
gone. The withdrawal operation was notable for its rapidity and its
overtness, especially in comparison to the ultra-secret Anadyr operation.

Because none of the large-hatch ships in which the missiles had
been brought to Cuba as hold cargo were near Cuban waters on the
first of November, Soviet authorities chose to use shipping immediately
available in Cuba and return the missiles as deck cargo. On 2 Novem-
ber, missiles and equipment began appearing at the port of Mariel. On
5 November, missile equipment was noted moving into the port of La
Isabella. By 10 November all 42 missiles had been loaded and were at
sea enroute back to the USSR.

Although the use of immediately available shipping required
deck loading of the missiles and thus contributed to the overtness of
the withdrawal, there are some indications of a deliberate effort by the
Soviet authorities to demonstrate as plainly as possible, short of on-site
inspection, that the offending offensive missiles and bases were gone:
they made no attempt to shelter the missiles and equipment while in
port awaiting shipment; IRBM sites were simply bulldozed over; and
the Soviet authorities generally cooperated in drawing back tarpaulins
from the missiles when challenged at sea by U.S. inspection parties.

198. The message was delivered to the American Embassy at Moscow at 5:10 PM on
October 28 and broadcast over Moscow radio in Russian and English beginning at 5 PM
Moscow time on the same date. CIA’s Foreign Broadcast Information Service (FBIS) had
been monitoring Radio Moscow throughout the crisis and provided President Kennedy the
first news of the Soviet decision to withdraw missiles from Cuba.
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In contrast to the expeditious withdrawal of the MRBM’s the 42
IL-28 bombers in Cuba were not removed until early December and
then only after Anastas Mikoyan had spent some uncomfortable days
and nights exercising his powers of persuasion convincing Castro to
have them removed. In fact, assembly of the IL-28’s went on slowly but
steadily after 28 October until about mid-November, following which no
change was observed in the status of the aircraft. After Khrushchev’s
announcement on 20 November that the IL-28’s would be withdrawn, all
of the aircraft were moved from airfields to the ports where they were
loaded on the decks of vessels that departed by 7 December. The fact
that they were not withdrawn sooner, together with the apparent disar-
ray between Moscow and Havana provides evidence that these aircraft
were intended from the outset to be turned over to Castro’s forces.'”

Intelligence Misses

Throughout the crisis, President Kennedy held firm to his objec-
tive—the removal by one means or another of the Soviet strategic
missiles. American intelligence did its part in supporting Kennedy in
meeting his objective. Former DCI Helms was noted at the beginning of
this story as saying the Cuban Missile Crisis was about discovering the
missiles and confirming that they left. In this, American intelligence did
its job well. It is fair to say that intelligence made a difference, perhaps
the difference in bringing the crisis to a successful closure.

At the same time, U.S. intelligence missed and misjudged important
aspects of the Soviet venture in Cuba. Those errors did not materially
affect the peaceful resolution of the crisis that was accomplished through
diplomatic means. But options of a military nature were very seriously
considered by ExComm and were initially favored, especially, though
not exclusively, by the military. The military options included an air
strike, which the JCS never stopped promoting, and an air strike fol-
lowed by an invasion, the expulsion of Castro, and the installation of an
American-friendly government. General Anatoli I. Gribkov discussed
what might have happened if U.S. air strikes and an invasion had been

199. Khrushchev’s Miscalculated Risk, pp. 78-80.
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launched. “Under combat conditions, in the terrible disorder of the
battlefield, there is an outside possibility that an enterprising Soviet
commander could have put a low-yield atomic warhead on a short-
range cruise missile. If such an officer had also found a target for that
weapon, it is hard to believe he would have waited long for approval
from higher authority before firing. It is impossible to know what the
U.S. response to such an act would have been.”?

A review U.S. intelligence performance during the crisis reveals:
The size, composition and organization of Soviet forces on the island
was seriously underestimated; intelligence and U.S. ASW forces hunting
Soviet submarines didn’t know, and possibly could not have known, that
those submarines were equipped with nuclear-armed torpedoes in addi-
tion to conventionally-armed ones; and most significantly, intelligence
did not confirm the presence of tactical nuclear weapons on the island,
and may have under-played the possibility of their existence. One may
argue, as some observers of the crisis have, that these errors contrib-
uted to the successful resolution of the crisis; had the U.S. known that
Soviet forces on the island were combat-ready and armed with nuclear
weapons, it would have created a problem, at least a political problem,
for the administration. How could the U.S. have made its non-invasion
pledge in exchange for the Soviets agreeing to remove the missiles
knowing that such a dangerous military force could be left in Cuba?

Soviet Troops in Cuba

On 6 February 1963 in response to the many conflicting rumors
and reports, DCI McCone made a statement that represented the agreed
views of the United States Intelligence Board based on what the U.S.
knew at the time. The statement rested on the most up-to-date and reli-
able data available to the United States Government and was derived
from all of the intelligence gathering resources at its disposal, including
daily aerial surveillance. In it he said “From a few hundred military
technicians in the summer of 1962, the Soviet armed forces in Cuba
grew by 24 October to include regular troops manning the tanks and

200. Gribkov and Smith, Operation Anadyr, pp. 67-8.
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other weapons of mobile armored groups, specialists in charge of an
extensive surface-to-air missile system, and a large number of other air
force, naval, and army personnel. Our current evaluation, based on all
sources including known tables of organization of Soviet units, is that
a total of about 22,000 Soviet troops were in Cuba during September
and October. Since then, about 5,000 troops associated with offensive
missile systems have left. Some 17,000 Soviet military personnel now
remain in Cuba.”"

It came as a shock to U.S. intelligence experts when they learned
that the actual strength of Soviet troops on Cuba was more than twice
the number that they had long thought. The actual number was given
by General Anatoli Gribkov in his book published in 1994: “Actual
Soviet troop strength on Cuba when John Kennedy imposed the naval
blockade on 24 October was 41,902.°22 A similar number was dis-
closed at the Cambridge Conference?® of October 1987 in a statement
by Sergo Mikoyan who said that Khrushchev sent forty-two thousand
men to Cuba to deter a U.S. Invasion.?®* Mikoyan’s figure is very close
to Castro’s later recollection of 40,000.2

The disclosure of the actual numbers of Soviet troops was shocking,
but even more shocking was learning that the deployment constituted a
large organized combat force comprising Soviet air force, air defense,
coastal defense, and ground force elements. The CIA believed there
were 20,000 Soviet “technicians and advisers” on the island. In fact,
there were more than forty thousand Soviet soldiers on Cuba, including
at least ten thousand highly trained combat troops.2%
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Historians have never satisfactorily explained the reason(s) for the
gross underestimation by American intelligence. According to Blight
and Welch, CIA operatives believed the number of Soviet troops was
much greater than Agency analysts estimated, and they ask: “why did
U.S. analysts ignore the estimate of the size of the Soviet force in Cuba
provided by the operational branch of the CIA? Samuel Halpern, Task
Force W executive officer, testified that Task Force W concluded in
September 1962 that there were 45,000-50,000 Soviet military person-
nel in Cuba.” As we now know, the operations people had it just about
right. Halpern is certain that CIA analysts received the Task Force W
estimate in September, but does not know what happened to it. Why
did the estimators dismiss it? “The only defensible reason would be that
they had some contrary evidence to suggest that the estimate must have
been off by about an order of magnitude. If so, this evidence has never
been made public.” Blight and Welch offer other possibilities but lean
toward what they refer to as a cognitive explanation: the estimators may
simply have seen what they expected to see; the CIA’s presumption that
the Soviet mission was to train Cuban troops. The CIA did not believe
at the time that the Soviets intended to deploy to Cuba a substantial
nuclear deterrent and a full battle-capable conventional force to defend
the island from American attack.’

Nuclear Torpedoes

On 30 September 1962 four Foxtrot submarines sat moored at Sayda
Bay’s wooden fishing piers where, to mask their departure, they had
moved under cover of darkness three days earlier from their usual berths
in Polyarny. The silent move had been made so that last-minute loading
of the “special” [nuclear] torpedoes could be done in total secrecy.?*®

Just prior to the launch of the Foxtrot boats Fleet Admiral Sergei
Gorshkov met with Admiral Rybalko, commander of the submarine
squadron, and told him: “you are in no way to allow American ASW
forces to discover your subs during your transit. Your assignment is

207. Blight and Welch, Intelligence and the Cuban Missile Crisis, pp. 180-1.
208. Huchthausen, October Fury, p. 46.
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to get to Mariel undetected and to reconnoiter the waters surrounding
Mariel and ensure they are free of American ASW forces. You will load
one special torpedo on each of your boats. You will use these weapons
if American forces attack you submerged or force your units to surface
and then attack, or upon receipt of orders from Moscow.”>°

At sea the sub commanders opened a secret package that contained
the rules of engagement: (1) Weapons in transit will be in combat
readiness for use; (2) Conventional weapons to be used as directed by
the Main Navy Staff except may be used in case of attack against the
sub; (3) Torpedoes with atomic weapons may be used only as directed
in instructions from the Ministry of Defense or the Main Navy Staff.
These words were considerably at odds with what they had been earlier
told at the send-off briefing at the pier.*'*

No one on the U.S. side knew that the Soviet submarines were
armed with nuclear torpedoes even as they dropped the practice depth
charges attempting to force the submarines to the surface. No one knew
at the time that conditions in the Soviet submarines were so physically
difficult and unstable that commanding officers, fearing they were
under attack by U.S. forces, may have briefly considered arming the
nuclear torpedoes.?"

Tactical Nuclear Weapons

The revelation of the previously unknown fact about the Cuban
Missile Crisis occurred in a conference room in Havana, Cuba in
early January 1992. It was there that Russian general Anatoly Gribkov
disclosed that which the Americans had believed was unlikely, if not
impossible, but turned out to be real—the Soviets had tactical nuclear
weapons, including warheads, in Cuba during the crisis. Gribkov was a
member of a Soviet delegation to the Havana conference on 9-12 January
1992 that also included key U.S. and Cuban figures who were involved
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in the actual crisis. They included Robert McNamara and Fidel Castro.

Gribkov would later write about his experience at the conference.
“My disclosure that battlefield nuclear weapons had been part of the
Soviet arsenal on Cuba in October 1962 caused a sensation among the
conference participants, and later in the Western press.” “...1 actually
spoke in Havana about six Luna (NATO designation FROG) launchers
and nine missiles with nuclear warheads, when the actual number of
warheads was twelve. Because | was not certain about what informa-
tion was still to be kept secret, I did not mention the eighty small cruise
missiles or the 